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VISION

A Competitive Workforce, with workers
Learning for Life, and Advancing with Skills.

MISSION

To enhance the employability and
competitiveness of our workforce.
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MESSAGE BY
CHAIRMAN

Despite experiencing slower growth of 1.3% in 2012,
Singapore has a low resident unemployment rate of 3%.
Our economy generated 130,000 jobs last year, which
more than caters to the number of locals joining the
workforce. But Singapore needs to sustain long-term
growth to ensure that both companies and individuals
have a better future.

Empowering our Workforce
We are fortunate to have established a robust and
comprehensive CET system for our workforce to tap
into. However, our workers will need to proactively plan
their careers and take charge of their own training and
development. We sought to encourage workers to embrace
CET through the “Upgrade Singapore” campaign
in FY12. Along with the campaign, we widened our
communication channels such as social media and
publicised career opportunities through career fairs to
make CET information easy to access.

Singaporeans, especially young professionals, now aspire
to quality jobs that not only provide a living but fulfilment
in their lives. Employers face greater global competition
and a tighter labour market, and demand more from
their employees. It is against these differing expectations
that we partnered the workforce, both professionals
and rank-and-file workers, employers and the wider
Continuing Education and Training (CET) community
to work towards a convergent goal – developing a quality
workforce to achieve career, business and, ultimately,
sustained economic growth. To achieve this goal, we have
adopted a three-pronged approach:
•

Empowering our workers

•

Enhancing companies’ capabilities

•

Fostering a strong CET community

We have also adopted a more holistic approach beyond
funding to help workers achieve their career aspirations,
and have forged strong partnerships with government
agencies and companies to develop new programmes
such as apprenticeships and scholarships. WDA stepped
up its efforts to help professionals, by encouraging softskills training to give them a career edge [e.g. Singapore
Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) Specialist
Diploma in Interactive Media – Business Management],
and by supporting scholarships [e.g. Manufacturing
STEP Scholarship (MS2) with Newcastle University] to
groom them for leadership positions. Overall, more than
99,530 professionals were trained under WDA supported
programmes in 2012. Our efforts to upskill Singaporeans
have borne fruit, as seen in a longitudinal study carried
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“

“

Having established a strong CET system and
strong partnerships with our stakeholders, I am
confident that we can face the challenges ahead
in FY13.

WDA deepened its alliances with government agencies,
training providers and companies. We also created virtual
communities online, such as the F&B Career Networks,
allowing members to interact anywhere and any time.
Beyond the virtual world, our two CET Campuses are on
track to be opened next year, where they will serve as hubs
for workers, employers and training providers to interact
and collaborate.

out in 2012. The study compared individuals with the
same profile (e.g. age and highest qualifications) and found
that those with WSQ Statements of Attainment (SOAs)
experienced higher wages of 4.3% in 2010 compared
to those without SOAs. Furthermore, trainees with full
qualifications had higher wages of 5.3% in 2009, compared
to those with SOAs but without full qualifications.

Gearing Companies for Success

Looking Ahead

Given Singapore’s limited manpower growth, companies
have to adapt to a manpower-lean environment and
utilise their most valuable asset – their employees. We
did not let up on our efforts to help companies develop
their manpower capabilities and raise their productivity
through specialised programmes such as PRIME and
the Manufacturing Plan. Special emphasis was placed
on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), and we rolled
out customised schemes such as MaxTalent to help them
recruit talent and increase their competitiveness.

I welcome you to read this Annual Report to find out
more about the work we did in FY12. I would like to
thank our partners and the WDA management for
having made our achievements possible in FY12. Having
established a strong CET system and strong partnerships
with our stakeholders, I am confident that we can face the
challenges ahead in FY13.

Fostering a Strong CET Community
We did not rest on our laurels, but continued to strengthen
our CET infrastructure. In FY12, we continued to raise
the professionalism of CET trainers and expanded our
WSQ system. However, we cannot sustain CET alone and
must work closely with the CET community. In FY12,

Tan Pheng Hock
Chairman
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MESSAGE BY
Chief Executive

Reflecting on FY12, we can see the remarkable progress
made by WDA. Over 964,850 workers have undergone
Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) training.
We have also built over 40 Continuing Education and
Training (CET) Centres so far, providing individuals and
employers with direct access to subsidised training. Based on
the annual Outcome Evaluation survey, there is a positive
correlation between WSQ training and career advancement.

Part of WDA’s core work has and will always be to help
lower-wage workers, in collaboration with the Community
Development Councils (CDCs). The cornerstone of WDA’s
efforts is the Workfare Training Support (WTS) scheme.
WTS has benefited over 100,000 individuals since its
inception in 2010. Beyond the numbers, we find inspiring
examples such as Madam Hazeena, who overcame her lack
of working experience to return to the workforce, through
her determination and continuous learning.

Transforming Lives

Changing Attitudes

However, what gives me the greatest satisfaction is how
WDA has worked with its partners to transform the lives
of many. Singaporeans’ aspirations are changing, and
many desire jobs which lead to a fulfilling career. WDA’s
role has gone beyond passively funding training courses.
By collaborating with industry partners, we have helped
individuals break into new exciting industries or achieve
new career heights. I was inspired by the example of
Mr Anthony Yeoh who is mentoring budding chefs and
helping them succeed in their new careers. We are also
helping professionals adapt to today’s new business world
by introducing new soft skills training to give them an edge.
To help individuals move up the career ladder, we also
supported degree programmes to equip individuals such as
Ms Nurhusniyah with specialised skills.

To thrive in an increasingly competitive business
environment, companies have to increase their
productivity, and be adaptable and agile. I am heartened
not just by the progress companies have made to make
their operations efficient through our productivity
programmes, but also by how their employees have
become motivated to look for better ways to do things. You
can read the story of Add-Plus Electronic in this Annual
Report to see the impact of productivity programmes on
its employees. Companies that we have worked with treat
training not as a sunk cost, but as an investment in their
most valuable asset – human capital. Companies such as
Wing Tai Retail use training as a tool to drive productivity
and team performance.
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“

“

To thrive in an increasingly competitive business
environment, companies have to increase their
productivity, and be adaptable and agile.

with our partners to empower our workers to drive
their careers, and helping companies to improve their
competitiveness. Finally, I would like to thank our partners
for making our achievements possible, and the WDA staff
for their hard work and dedication.

Stronger Partnerships, Vibrant CET Community
We continued to deepen collaborations and partnerships
with industry associations, unions and economic agencies
to support WDA’s work for the various industry sectors.
Partners such as SPRING provide needed expertise while
partners such as the Employment and Employability
Institute (e2i) form effective channels to reach out to
workers. One example of cross-collaboration between
our partners is the development of the Manufacturing
Resilience Tripartite Programme (MERP) to help workers
in the electronics industry. We have also sought to foster a
strong CET Community beyond individual partnerships
by creating virtual communities such as the F&B Careers
Network. These virtual communities allow community
members to interact and collaborate online any time,
anywhere.

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive

Looking Ahead
I am excited by the future developments in our CET
landscape. We will see three major milestones achieved
in the next two years: the official opening of the two
CET Campuses, the training of the millionth worker
under WSQ and, most of all, the 10th year of WDA’s
establishment. Furthermore, I look forward to working
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WDA
Board committees
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Corporate
Governance
Disclosure

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE disclosure
c. 		Investment Committee — The Investment
Committee formulates investment policies and guidelines
that are in line with the approach set by the Supervising
Ministry and are compliant with the investment clause
in the Skills Development Levy Act. It also manages
the surplus of WDA administered funds available for
investment by reviewing the investment strategy and
performance of the fund managers from time to time as
well as monitoring the results of the investments.

Function of WDA Board
The WDA Board provides guidance and advice to the
WDA Management on all matters under WDA’s purview,
including its policy, regulatory and promotional roles. It
also reviews and approves the strategic plans and budgets
of WDA. The WDA Board members come from diverse
backgrounds such as the unions, the private and public
sectors. This allows us to tap on their varied experience,
skills, knowledge and perspective. Under the Singapore
Workforce Development Agency Act, the WDA Board shall
comprise a Chairman, a Deputy Chairman (if appointed),
and not less than 8 but not more than 16 other members as
determined by the Minister for Manpower. The quorum at
every board meeting of the Agency is one-third of the total
number of members.

d. 		Remuneration Committee — The Remuneration
Committee sets human resource management and
development policies which includes approving staff
remuneration policies, major changes to schemes of
service, early retirement and early release schemes as
well as the appointment, promotion and performance
bonuses for senior management (i.e. Director and
above) in WDA. It also reviews and deliberates on staff
appeals related to personnel matters.

WDA Board Committees
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act
empowers the WDA Board to form committees from
among its own members or other persons to support
the work of the Board. The WDA Board Committees
guide the development of specific areas of the WDA and
perform the necessary due diligence and reporting to the
Board. Each committee is headed by a designated member
and abides by its terms of reference. The WDA Board
Committees are:

RISK MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Internal Control Framework
WDA’s internal control system ensures that assets and
resources are safeguarded and risk management, control
measures and procedures in place are adequate and
effective. It also ensures compliance with established
policies and regulations, proper maintenance of accounting
records and reliability of the financial statements.

a. 		Audit and Risk Committee — The Audit and
Risk Committee ensures that WDA has a rigorous and
robust system of internal controls. It reviews WDA’s
risk assessment and management system as well as the
rigour of the internal control systems. Internal and
external auditors are also engaged to conduct audit
reports on WDA’s work and processes.

The internal control framework includes clearly defined
authority and financial approval limits, reporting
mechanisms, comprehensive policies and procedures relating
to operational and financial controls, annual budgeting and
monthly financial reporting on its operations. Under the
Risk Management Framework, WDA has developed a risk
treatment plan to evaluate, mitigate and monitor potential
risk exposure under the following categories:

b. Grants Committee — The Grants Committee
ensures that WDA has a robust financial system to
fulfill the WDA’s mission. It provides advice on funding
principles and grant policies for WDA administered
funds, covering both the Lifelong Learning
Endowment Fund and the Skills Development Fund
and approves funding proposals that are within budget
values specified by the WDA Board.

Strategic - Risks that affect the long term direction of WDA
Operation - Risks that affect WDA’s operations
Financial - Risks that lead to loss of public funds or
availability of financial resources
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE disclosure
upon recruitment to acknowledge this provision and are
reminded of this provision when they leave WDA’s service.

The risk items and mitigation measures are monitored
regularly by WDA Management and reported to the Audit
and Risk Committee and the WDA Board.

To reinforce WDA’s commitment to a culture of integrity
and transparency within the organisation, WDA has in place
the whistle blowing policy and its reporting mechanism to
facilitate the reporting of fraud and wrongdoing of staff.
A half yearly fraud report which lists both internal and
external fraud cases is submitted to the Audit and Risk
Committee for its review and guidance.

The WDA Management is responsible to review and
monitor the effectiveness of internal controls to safeguard
WDA’s interests, and will evaluate the necessity of
implementing other internal control policies from time
to time, aimed at compliance with all regulatory and
statutory standards.

Annual Reports and Dissemination of Public
Information
WDA submits an annual report after the end of each
financial year to the Minister for Manpower, which outlines
the activities of the WDA during the preceding financial
year and contains information relating to the proceedings
and policy of the WDA as the Minister may, from time to
time, direct.

Internal and External Audit Functions
The Internal Audit Unit (IAU) functions independently
and reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee
(ARC) and administratively to WDA’s Chief Executive
IAU provides assurance to management through its
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal
controls and processes, compliance with established policies,
procedures and regulatory requirements. Results of audits
and recommendations for control enhancements are
promptly communicated to senior management. IAU also
monitors the implementation status of the audit observations.

WDA’s full year financial results are reported to the Board
and disseminated to the public via WDA’s corporate
website. The website also contains up to date corporate
information such as Annual Reports, latest developments
and press releases.

In addition, the external auditor performs the annual
statutory audit and its audit observations (if any) which are
detailed in the Management Letter which is reported to
the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) meets with the
external and internal auditors, without the presence of the
management, at least once a year. The financial statements
and the accompanying announcements are presented to
the ARC for approval, before endorsement by the Board,
to ensure the integrity of information to be released.
Business and Ethical Conduct
All staff of WDA have to adhere to high standards of
professional integrity and personal conduct. They are not
to get involved in matters where a conflict of interest may
arise and are to declare to the situation to their supervisor.
Staff members are also subject to provisions of the
Official Secrets Act and are required to sign a declaration
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PARTNERS’
QUOTES

Mr Koh Juan Kiat
Executive Director,
Singapore National Employers Federation (SNEF)

“

“

One of the greatest challenges facing companies is the limited growth
of manpower. Companies need to focus on raising productivity to
mitigate the resulting higher wage costs and reduce dependence on
foreign manpower. We are delighted to be appointed by WDA as
a Programme Partner for the WorkPro Programme and Enterprise
Training Support (ETS) to augment local manpower, foster
progressive workplaces and strengthen the Singaporean core in our
workforce. We are also glad that WDA and SNEF are collaborating
closely to help companies through various other programmes such as
the SNEF Productivity Management Programme. This partnership
is an excellent example of the tripartite approach to tackling
manpower challenges faced by companies.
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“

“

Since the e2i was formed five years ago, we have worked closely with
WDA, companies, training providers, and tripartite partners to create
solutions for employment and employability. Our collaborations have
expanded over the years. From matching job seekers with employers
during the downturn and upturn, creating Place-and-Train
programmes for many sectors ranging from Aerospace Technicians
to Corporate Administrative Specialists, and developing professional
development and skills upgrading initiatives; we also started to
customise for PMEs’ (Professionals, Managers, and Executives)
career needs, partner on enhanced WorkPro, and develop productivity
programmes such as PRIME. With the new Devan Nair Institute for
Employment and Employability, e2i and WDA will work even closer
together to create better jobs and better lives for Singapore workers.

Mr Gilbert Tan
Chief Executive Officer,
Employment and Employability Institute (e2i)
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“

“

Over the next two to three years, the demand for workers in the process
and biomedical science industry will grow as the industry expands.
I am pleased that WDA is supporting the training of new entrants
through the Development and Apprenticeship (DNA) programme.
GSK’s productivity focus is to improve quality of our products and
services, eliminate waste, and lower operational expenditure for the
patients. Through WDA’s Productivity Specialists Programme, we
aim to enhance our staff at all levels with skills and techniques that
empower them to engage in continuous improvement projects.

Mr Lim Hock Heng
Vice President and Managing Director,
GlaxoSimthKline (GSK)
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Mr Tan Ooi Boon
President,
Association of Media Owners
of Singapore (AMOS)

“

“

The new digital and social media arena is evolving quickly and
media owners have to take the initiative to train their staff, for them
to stay competitive. Training in technical skills is not enough and
businesses have to equip themselves with business skills to make the
best of their innovations. I am glad that WDA is taking the step
to support programmes which offers training in both areas, such
as the WSQ Specialist Diploma in Interactive Media (Business
Management).
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Mr Chak Kong Soon
President,
Singapore Computer Society (SCS)

“

“

We commend WDA for the immense work that they have put into
the National Infocomm Competency Framework to ensure that it
continues to be a useful and relevant framework to guide our ICT
professionals in developing their capabilities and employability skills
demanded in today’s economy. As the largest professional body for
the ICT fraternity in Singapore, SCS partners with WDA in the
promoting the awareness and adoption of the NICF over the past four
years. Through the suite of SCS certifications endorsed by NICF, we
are glad to be able to play a vital role in raising the competencies in
the area of Project Management, IT Outsourcing Management, IT
Business Continuity Management and Quality Assurance.
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“

“

SCORE has been working with WDA since 2007 to enhance the
employability of inmates and ex-offenders. Our partnership has
grown and deepened significantly over the years. In April 2012,
we are happy that our partnership has gone a step further, with
WDA coming in to also support SCORE in other areas like the
set-up of training infrastructure and other measures such as case
management, to better prepare and assist inmates and ex-offenders
to rejoin the workforce. With WDA’s support, we are confident
that we can do more to build bridges of hope for offenders and their
families and thereby contribute to a safer community.

Mr Teo Tze Fang
Chief Executive Officer,
Singapore Corporation of
Rehabilitative Enterprises (SCORE)
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Highlights
of FY12

Working with partners, WDA adopted three thrusts to achieve its goal of driving sustainable growth:

1. Empowering workers
2. Gearing companies for success
3. Fostering a strong Continuing Education and Training (CET) community

Empowering
Workers
Building new skills and upgrading current skill sets are vital for
each and every member of Singapore’s workforce. In FY12,
WDA focused on this to empower workers, enabling them to
pursue better jobs and realise their career aspirations. We also
raised awareness of career opportunities, complementing our
efforts to develop our workforce.

Empowering
Workers
Raising Awareness of the Importance of Upskilling
WDA launched the Upgrade Singapore campaign between
24 October 2012 and 31 March 2013 to communicate to
Singaporeans how skills upgrading is important for them
to remain relevant in their jobs. The campaign used the
theme “Are your skills still relevant?” and emphasised that
times have changed, which is why skills should be upgraded.
The campaign attracted over 72,000 visits to the campaign
website and garnered extensive media coverage across
major dallies, broadcast and online media. Close to 60%
of individuals and more than 70% employers surveyed
were aware of the campaign.
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Empowering
Workers
The Apprentice
[ now a ]

MENTOR
Anthony Yeoh

At the young age of 29, Mr Anthony Yeoh
became the Head Chef of Cocotte, a highly
rated French restaurant. What does he
think are the ingredients of his success? He was inspired
by his grandmother who was trained at Le Cordon
Bleu Institute in Paris. The Diploma in Culinary Craft
& Service Excellence comprising WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Culinary Arts which he attended between
2006 and 2008 at the At-Sunrice GlobalChef Academy
Pte Ltd also played a part in his success. Mr Yeoh credits
the WSQ programme for giving him the foundation to
do well in his career, enabling him to rise from being the
chef of a private catering business to a Head Chef of
a renowned restaurant. As he has benefited greatly as a
WSQ apprentice, Anthony wants to pay it forward. He
is now a WSQ mentor chef despite his hectic schedule.
He finds great joy in guiding and inspiring young talent,
while giving back to the industry.
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Drawing

[ is not ]

Child’s Play
Mohammad Firdaus Bin Aminordin
Growing up, Mr Mohammad Firdaus had
always had an ardent fascination for doodling,
movies and games. Unfortunately, he could
not land an animation job with his Diploma
in Multimedia Computing and stayed in the
finance sector for five years. He came across
the WSQ Diploma in Digital Visual Effects
and Animation at 3DSense Media School and signed
up for the course. The move propelled him from a
deskbound banking job to animating for Hollywood
blockbusters. Currently a 3D Artist with Double
Negative, he puts his training to good use in box-office
hits such as Captain America, John Carter, Total Recall
and Bourne Legacy. One of his proudest achievements
to date is seeing his name in the credits of Hollywood
blockbuster, Snow White and the Huntsman. Mr
Firdaus credits the WSQ diploma for cultivating a
strong eye for detail and the mindset needed for the
industry.
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Empowering
Workers
Opening Doors to New Industries
Workers who desire to work in a new industry may lack the necessary job experience and work skills, despite having the
desire and passion to work and succeed in the new industry. WDA helps such individuals by collaborating with industry
and training providers to provide apprenticeships and Place-and-Train programmes. The latter provides opportunities
for trainees to be hired first before commencing training, allowing them to acquire the skills needed for the jobs they are
recruited for.

Accountancy
Partnered the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants
of Singapore (now known as
the Institute of Singapore
Chartered
Accountants)
to roll out the Accounts
Assistant Place-and-Train
Programme to train midcareer job seekers to join
the accounting profession as
accounts assistants.

Furniture Design
Rolled out the inaugural
WSQ Advanced Certificate
in
Industrial
Design
(Furniture)
with
SFIC
Institute Pte Ltd via an
apprenticeship programme,
which comprises classroom
and on-the-job training, to
groom a pipeline of local
furniture designers.

Healthcare
Collaborated
with
the
Ministry of Health (MOH)
and MOH Holdings (MOHH)
to enhance and promote
the Healthcare Professional
Conversion
Programmes
(Healthcare PCPs) to make it
more attractive and viable for
mid-career switchers to enter
the nursing and allied health
professions.

Food & Beverage
the
Singapore
Launched
Workforce Skills Qualifications
(WSQ) Diploma in Food &
Beverage Management with AtSunrice GlobalChef Academy
Pte Ltd, a first-of-its-kind
apprenticeship
programme
that will allow aspiring F&B
professionals to learn from the
best frontline industry experts.
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Privileged
[ to ]

Care

Kamala Devi D/O Thiagarajah
Formerly an administrator in the civil
service, Ms Devi was attracted to become
a Nurse because the profession provides
endless opportunities to enhance one’s
skills and knowledge. Working as a staff
nurse, she enrolled in the Place-and-Train
(PnT) Diploma in Nursing at Parkway
College. The programme provided her with both in-depth
theoretical knowledge and practical training at various
hospitals and enabled her to apply the knowledge she had
learnt as a Staff Nurse with greater confidence. After the
completion of her training in October 2011, she became a
qualified Registered Nurse. She is currently working at the
Institute of Mental Health (IMH) and works closely with
patients who have intellectual disability and mental illness.
She plans to pursue a nursing degree to deliver a high level
of nursing care and improve her critical thinking abilities.
But what really drives her is the conviction is that it’s an
honour to be nurse and a privilege to make a difference in
people’s lives.
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Empowering
Workers
Infocomm and Technology
(ICT)
Launched
the
NICFTe c h n o p r e n e u r s h i p
Programme with the Lithan
Hall Academy to foster and
nurture entrepreneurship
skills in the ICT sector.

Retail
Collaborated with Nanyang
Polytechnic (NYP) for the
Retail Seminar and Career
Fair 2012. This event featured
talks by employers such as
H&M and Richemont and
Luxury, and was attended by
more than 150 students keen
to explore a career in retail.

Process and Biomedical
Sciences
Unveiled the Development
and Apprenticeship (DNA)
programme to nurture a pool
of skilled local personnel
such as Process Technicians
and
Validation
and
Manufacturing Specialists for
the process and biomedical
sciences industry.

Technical Theatre
WDA appointed Republic
Polytechnic (RP) to deliver
apprenticeship programmes
in Technical Theatre for fresh
entrants and career converts
to join the Technical Theatre
or the Meetings, Incentives,
Conventions and Exhibitions
(MICE) industries.
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Propelling Careers to Greater Heights
In a fast-paced, knowledge-based economy, employers now
demand more than just academic qualifications. Technical
proficiencies and soft skills to drive the business forward
are some of the attributes valued by today’s employers.
WDA worked with individuals to enhance their career
competitiveness through these initiatives:
• Scholarships Programmes
WDA-sponsored scholarships provide opportunities for
companies to identify highly talented individuals to pursue
studies at renowned tertiary institutions, and groom
them to become the future captains of industry. WDA
introduced these scholarships under STEP in FY12:

Scholarship

Course and Institution of Study

Objective of Scholarship

STEP Marine and Offshore
Scholarship Programme

Masters of Science (MSc) in Marine
Technology by Newcastle University

Enables trainees to gain the necessary
skills in advanced design and
technologies, management and business
so they can take up leadership positions.

Service Excellence (SV) – STEP
Scholarship

Masters of Science in Innovation
(MI) by the Singapore Management
University (SMU)

Enables companies to groom serviceinnovation champions to drive service
productivity and enhance customer
experience for their organisations.

Manufacturing STEP Scholarship
(MS2) with the German Institute
of Science & Technology (GIST) –
TUM Asia

Five masters programmes for selection
• Master of Science in Integrated
Circuit Design
• Master of Science in
Microelectronics
• Master of Science in Aerospace
Engineering
• Master of Science in Industrial
Chemistry
• Master of Science in Transport
and Logistics

Builds a pipeline of management
talents to meet the long-term needs of
the manufacturing industries.

Manufacturing STEP Scholarship
(MS2) with Newcastle University

Master by Research for Science/
Engineering

Develops companies’ capabilities beyond
their current functions for strategic
development and long-term growth, as
well as a pool of local leaders.
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Empowering
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-- The Institute for Adult Learning’s (IAL) Centre for
Workplace Literacy and Numeracy (CWPLN) teamed
up with international experts to develop a series of
professional development programmes contextualised
to the Workplace Literacy (WPL) system, in order
to deepen the expertise of the WPL community of
developers and trainers.

• Create T-shaped Professionals
Successful professionals in today’s business world not only
need to have the technical know-how (“vertical skills”),
but must also possess soft skills (“horizontal skills”) such
as leadership and analytical skills.
-- WDA sought to broaden the horizontal skills of
professionals through the launch of the WSQ Specialist
Diploma in Interactive Media (Business Management),
a first-of-its-kind for the Creative Industries (CI).

• Leverage International Best-in-class Institutions
WDA brought in leading thought leaders and
premier programmes to build the capabilities of local
professionals. One example is the partnership with the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) and Next
U (NTUC Learning Hub’s executive education arm)
to roll out a new programme – the “MIT Scale Supply
Chain Leadership & Innovation Programme” (SCLIP)
– whereby PMEs are mentored and coached by MIT
lecturers. Other internationally renowned institutes
included:

-- WDA and the Strategic Technology Management Institute
(STMI), under the National University of Singapore (NUS),
rolled out a suite of T-shaped Infocomm and Technology
(ICT) executive programmes with a bundling of NICF,
Leadership and Business Management competencies.
Graduates of the NICF-Graduate Certificate of IT
Management can proceed to pursue a Master Certificate
for CIO Practice, which is issued by the NUS School of
Computing and co-badged with WSQ.

Area

Institutions

Animation

GOBELINS L’ecole de Limage
The Parisian school, dedicated to the visual arts has produced famous animators such as
Pierre Coffin (director of Despicable Me) and Bibo Bergeron (director of Shark Tale).

Digital Media

Hyper Island Institute of Higher Education
The Swedish-based institution specialises in real-world industry training using digital
technology. It was rated among Europe’s top 100 schools by renowned international
architecture, art and design magazine Domus.

Early Childhood
Care and Education

WestEd’s Centre for Child and Family (CCFS)
CCFS is a leader in the United States in promoting high quality, research-based early care
and education services.

Human Resource
in Organisational
Development

Roffey Park
Roffey Park is an internationally renowned leadership institute based in the UK and
Singapore with 65 years’ experience of human resource and coaching.

CET Research

Institute of Education (IOE) of the University of London and Griffith University
IOE is UK’s leading centre for studies in education and related disciplines while Griffith
University was ranked among the top 100 institutions (under 50 years old) by Times Higher
Education.
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Engineering
[ the ]

Future

Nurhusniyah Binte Azman
Ms Nurhusniyah Binte Azman
completed her ‘A’ levels education at the
Tampines Junior College and did well
enough to be offered both the NTU
Accountancy and NIE teaching programme. Instead, Ms Nur pursued her passion
and enrolled in the ATTC Foundation Degree in Aircraft Engineering programme
and graduated in late 2012.
Through her training at Air Transport Training College (ATTC), Ms Nur picked up
fundamental knowledge and practical skills on aircraft maintenance. The Foundation
Degree programme, which embeds Aerospace WSQ modules, provided her with
both theoretical and practical skills to carry out maintenance work on aircrafts.
Immediately after her graduation, she was offered a job by the Airbus as a
Components and Repair Controller. She did well in her job and was soon promoted
to Acting Project Engineer in March 2013 with a 45% increase in salary.
Ms Nur credits her success to the training at ATTC which equipped her with solid
skills and the right attitude for a career in aerospace. She aspires to continue to
upgrade herself and plans to enrol in the Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Aircraft
Engineering programme so that she can realise her aspiration of attaining a degree.
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Gaining

[ an ]

EDGE

Jaeson Chua

As a Sales Manager at SLS Bearings, Mr Jaeson Chua
wondered how he could instil in team members greater team
commitment and a sense of connectivity to work and with
one another. After attending the Executive Development and
Growth for Excellence (EDGE) module: ‘Develop a Work
Team’, Mr Chua reviewed how he could involve his team in
understanding the process flow within the company. Instead
of coaching them from a process map, he innovatively asked
his team to put together a video that would help everyone
understand the process flow within their department and
with other critical departments. This would help improve
service levels with their customers. Mr Chua was amazed
by his team members’ eagerness to take on the task and
their delight in the completed product. More importantly,
everyone was motivated to learn while having FUN. Bonds
were also strengthened within and across departments. The
EDGE workshop truly helped Mr Chua discover innovative
ways to manage his team.
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• Bringing Together Employers and Job Seekers

Individuals Returning to the Workforce

through Job Fairs
In FY12, WDA’s five career centres at the Community
Development Councils (CDCs) organised a total of 300
recruitment events across a range of sectors, including
community and social services, healthcare, retail,
F&B and electronics. Similarly, CaliberLink organised
more than 10 recruitment and networking events for
professionals, by working with different employers in
the private sector, such as AXA, CARE Singapore,
DBS, Maybank and Kim Seng. About 860 employers
participated in the recruitment events which attracted
over 20,430 people.

Returning to the workforce can be difficult, especially for
individuals who have lost their jobs or have been out of
the workforce for a long period of time. Many individuals
lack the skill sets and confidence to find and secure work.
WDA’s career centres and CaliberLink, WDA’s specialist
career and training advisory centre for professionals,
provide career advisory, counselling services and match
Singaporeans to jobs.
• Equipping Job Seekers with the Skills to Find
and Secure Jobs
-- CaliberLink developed the Professional Excellence
Advancement Knowledge (PEAK) programme to help
job seekers chart their career paths and equip them
with resume-writing, interview, job-searching and
online branding skills. About 500 PMEs benefited from
the programme by the end of FY12.

• Redesigning the Job of Care Workers
To reduce the reliance on foreign workers in the
eldercare sector, WDA partnered Ministry of Health
(MOH) to pilot a Place-and-Train Programme for Care
Workers in June 2012. This pilot aims to redesign and
rebrand the job functions of a full-time care worker by
breaking it into three part-time job roles that are more
attractive to housewives and retirees looking for flexible
part-time work.

-- In March 2013, CaliberLink introduced a new series
of motivational workshops to assist PME job seekers
to build mental strength and resilience for career and
professional development.
-- CaliberLink organised two Entrepreneurship Talks in
collaboration with SPRING Singapore and EDC@
ASME, as well as a talk on Social Entrepreneurship, to
assist PMEs who aspire to start their own businesses or
social enterprises.

• Bringing Women Back to Work Through the
Confinement Nanny Training Programme
WDA partnered Thomson Medical Centre Pte Ltd
(TMC) to introduce the Confinement Nanny Training
Programme (CNTP) in April 2012, which aims to attract
back-to-work women and raise the standards of the
confinement nanny profession.

• Collaborating with Private-sector Job Search
Agencies
In July 2012, WDA appointed two private-sector
providers – HireRight Pte Ltd and Right Management
Singapore P/L – under a pilot programme to augment
its career services for unemployed Singaporean PMEs.
Tapping the expertise, network and resources of these
two private-sector providers, 72 PMEs found jobs in
FY12 after receiving assistance.
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Workers
Drawing New
Confidence

[ through ]

LearninG
Hazeena Begum D/O Badshah
Madam Hazeena, 42, had not
worked before as she was too busy
with childcare issues after marriage.
But her lack of job experience did
not deter her from seeking assistance
from South East Career Centre
to look for a job, as her children
had then grown up. Her Career
Consultant arranged for her to go for
the Step Out For Change Workshop
where she learnt essential skills required for working women such
as resume writing and grooming tips. She also took up computer
courses and a course in WSQ Advanced Certificate in Community
and Social Service (Student Care). The training helped her become
more resilient and gain real confidence in getting a job despite her age
and lack of experience. Her determination finally led her to secure
a job in April 2011 as a Teacher cum Student Care Assistant at a
student care centre. Today, she is working as an infant care teacher at
a childcare centre, she is enjoying her work and continually learning
having taken up the Early Years Development Framework course.
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In-house Guru
[ to ]

OTHERS

Chia Tze Wei

When cleaners dust and clean
rooms at Park Hotel Group’s three
establishments here, they work in a circle
– either clockwise or anticlockwise. The
method was devised by Mr Chia Tze
Wei, who has been a trainer since 2010
and is one of Park Hotel’s 26 certified
trainers. His rationale? No area will
be missed and the cleaning is more
efficient. His creative spark was driven
by his training in Advanced Certificate
in Training and Assessment (ACTA)
and a Diploma in Adult Continuing
Education (DACE), which emphasises
critical and creative thinking about
adult education. His experience with
the DACE programme was very enriching and he bonded
with people from different fields, shared ideas and learned
new techniques. Armed with the new knowledge, Mr Chia
now plays a vital role in designing courses and conducting
in-house training covering everything from how to greet
customers from different countries to how to set a table in
15 minutes.
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Gearing
Companies
for

Success
In the midst of increased global competition and a tightening
labour market, it is imperative for Singapore’s businesses to be
innovative and increase their productivity. This is why WDA
constantly seeks to help businesses to develop their most valuable
asset – their manpower – and improve their operational efficiency.

Gearing Companies
for

Success
Develop Strong Manpower Capabilities

-- WDA worked with Singapore Polytechnic to embed
three WSQ modules from the GMS WSQ – Food
Manufacturing framework into its students’ InCourse Assessment (ICA), which will make up 30%
of their final grade. Around 100 final-year Singapore
Polytechnic students from the Diploma in Food Science
and Technology programme are expected to benefit
from the initiative every year.

WDA continues to help companies develop their manpower
capabilities to enhance their business competitiveness:
• Adopting a Holistic Approach towards Training
-- WDA collaborated with the Singapore National
Employers’ Federation (SNEF) to launch the
Manufacturing Plan for Learning and Advancement
(Manufacturing PLAN ). The Manufacturing PLAN
aims to encourage manufacturing firms to upskill their
workers through a holistic approach – by incorporating
training into their human resource system, aligning inhouse training to WSQ standards, and improving course
fee subsidies. The programme attracted a total of 30
companies (20 SMEs and 10 non-SMEs) from various
manufacturing industries such as Precision Engineering,
Electronics, Aerospace and Food Manufacturing.
-- WDA collaborated with the Singapore Economic
Development Board (EDB), the Petrofac Training
Institute (PTI), and four local polytechnics and
Institutes of Technical Education (ITEs) to enhance
chemical process and engineering students’ industrial
attachments, through WSQ training that was conducted
in an actual chemical plant. Over 500 students will
benefit from the training every year.
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Industries

• Greater Assistance for Small and Medium

through More Specialised Training
-- WDA, together with the Ministry of Manpower (MOM)
and the Workplace Safety and Health (WSH) Council,
launched the Occupational Hygiene (OH) Professionals
WSQ framework. This will help to drive improvements
in workplace health management by building a pool of
competent OH officers who will be able to identify and
mitigate workplace health concerns, which is in line
with the National Workplace Health strategy to raise
Singapore’s workplace health standards.

Enterprises (SMEs)
SMEs employ 70% of Singapore’s workforce and
contribute to nearly half of Singapore’s GDP. WDA
focused on helping SMEs enhance their internal human
resource capabilities and recruit PMEs, as well as reduce
the financial barriers to training:

• Raising the Professionalism of

-- WDA launched the MaxTalent scheme, which jobmatches PMEs to openings in SMEs. PMEs will also
benefit from a WDA-funded training workshop, which
will impart essential basic management skill sets.

-- A new WSQ framework was launched – the Assembly
& Test (A&T) WSQ – which will help accelerate the
growth of the semiconductor industry.

-- Under the newly launched Enhanced Training Support
for SMEs scheme, SMEs can receive higher coursefee funding for a wide range of courses, including
WSQ , and Continuing Education and Training (CET)
Academic and Certifiable courses offered by the five
polytechnics or ITEs.

-- Recognising the potential growth of the music industry,
WDA partnered the Media Development Authority
(MDA) and music companies to offer training
programmes in lyrics writing, melody writing and music
arrangement for music talents.

-- WDA rolled out the Deploy and Release for Training
(DART) programme to support and fund retailers in
the upgrading of their local employees, by deploying
trained workers at retail companies to relieve the
permanent staff sent for Retail WSQ training.

-- WDA collaborated with the National Environment
Agency (NEA) and the waste management industry to
develop WSQ training courses to help professionalise
the workforce through better skills and higher safety

-- WDA partnered NEA to enhance the voluntary Clean
Mark Accreditation Scheme, which aims to increase
the service levels of the cleaning industry. Under this
scheme, cleaning companies are required to train their
workers in Environmental Cleaning WSQ courses to
improve their skills, productivity, professionalism and

and service standards.

image.
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Wing Tai Retail
[ in ]

Winning Form
Wing Tai Retail
With its extensive portfolio of
fashion retail brands such as G2000
and Topshop/Topman, Wing Tai
Retail is a strong advocate of staff
development and training. During
the first three months of their
employment, all its 1,000-strong
frontline staff have undergone
training in at least two WSQ
modules. The company has reaped
the benefits of Retail WSQ training
in several ways. Besides improved
customer satisfaction, its frontline
employees have acquired more
confidence and are able to handle
customers’ requests with stronger
competencies. Additionally, its
supervisors and managers have demonstrated greater
commitment towards overall team performance and
productivity after attending the Leadership and People
Management WSQ modules. Mrs Helen Khoo,
Executive Director of Wing Tai Retail, explains, “While
the WSQ training has a rigorous structure, it affords us
flexibility to adapt and customise its courses to suit the
different brands we manage and its syllabus dovetails well
into our internal training framework.
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Select Group Managing Director, Mr Vincent Tan has always been
committed in training his employees. He takes training seriously
and described it as the backbone for his F&B business. As a result,
the company engages more part-timers to cover the routine jobs
so as to allow his full timers to attend WSQ and non WSQ training
programmes. Select Group is an in-house Approved Training
Organisation for the Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ)
programmes and Select employees underwent more than 50,000 hours
of training altogether in 2012. The company saw tangible benefits of
training such as an improvement in customer satisfaction and notably a
rise in staff morale. Many of the company’s staff did well at work and
were promoted. With the company’s unwavering commitment towards
providing training opportunities and good career pathways for employee,
Select Group has also won the Tourism and F&B WSQ Awards 2012
for the WSQ Training Excellence Award under F&B Category.
Mr Tan adopts an open mind even
if his staff leaves after training. He
feels that after all Select Group
is helping to raise standards in the
industry.
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Commitment
[ to ]

Training Yields
Results
Select Group

Creativity
Strengthened
[ by ]

Technical
Expertise
MediaCorp

With a corporate mission to engage,
entertain and enrich audiences by harnessing the power of creativity,
MediaCorp aims to fulfil this mission by developing and strengthening its
manpower capabilities. The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (WDA)
and the Singapore Media Academy (SMA) are strategic learning partners
that MediaCorp collaborates with to maintain a skilled and industry-relevant
workforce. Tapping on the support from WDA through the Singapore Media
Academy (SMA), MediaCorp created about 600 training places for its staff
over the last two years. Training programmes include Writing, Producing &
Directing among others. MediaCorp also signed up for the Creative Industries
Apprenticeship Scheme with WDA where it provided opportunities for fresh
hires to undergo structured WSQ training. One such success story is Ms Olivia
Siong, reporter from the Singapore Desk. Within a short span of two years, she
has grown from a novice reporter to a full-fledged news broadcaster for News
on Channel 5.
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Increase Enterprise Productivity
WDA unveiled several productivity programmes to
encourage companies to establish a productivity culture in
their workplace and equip their employees with innovation
and productivity tools to improve their competitive edge:
• Developing a One-stop Holistic Productivity
Solution for Companies
-- WDA launched the Productivity, Resilience and
Innovation for Manpower Excellence (PRIME)
programme. PRIME aims to motivate companies to
embark on productivity initiatives and equip them
with the necessary organisational development and
productivity skills.
-- WDA has enhanced the Service Excellence Competency
Framework to emphasise the need for a “whole of
company” approach towards a more productivityand innovation-led business model. This will enhance
customer experience, resulting in business sustainability.
• Nurturing Productivity Experts
-- Developed in collaboration with the Singapore
Institute of Manufacturing Technology (SIMTech), the
manufacturing productivity associates initiative aims
to nurture a pool of productivity experts (Productivity
Associates) to support manufacturing companies in the
conceptualisation and implementation of productivity
improvement initiatives. Other similar programmes
included the OMNI@Marine Programme by SIMTech
and the Association of Singapore Marine Industries
(ASMI) for the Marine and Offshore industry, and the
Productivity Consultancy Training Programme (Retail
and Food Services).

Productivity Champions, during which a NexMU
consultant will guide them through the application
of various lean six-sigma tools based on identified
company-based projects.
• Raising Awareness of Productivity Efforts and
Techniques
-- WDA, in collaboration with the Singapore
Manufacturing Federation, organised the 2nd WDASMF Productivity and Innovation Awards to recognise
companies that have embraced productivity by
developing a strong core of Productivity Champions
within their organisation, through the WSQ Certified
Productivity and Innovation Manager (WSQ CPI
Manager) and SME Quality Initiatives to Assist,
Nurture and Grow (SME QIANG) programmes.

-- “Empowering Efficiency & Excellence” (3E) was
rolled out in 2012, and the initiative has since trained
190 Productivity Champions. 3E was designed with
a series of intensive coaching sessions for companies’
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-- WDA, the Infocomm Development Authority of
Singapore (IDA) and the Singapore IT Federation
(SiTF) Productivity & Productisation Programme
Office (PPPO) have jointly rolled out a series of ICT
Productivity Masterclasses as part of the initiatives under
IDA’s Productivity Roadmap. These pertain to product
management, product marketing, and productisation in
User Interface (UI) and User Design (UD).

-- To help companies better understand and deploy skills,
as well as increase productivity, IAL’s Centre for Skills,
Performance and Productivity conducted productivityrelated research for different sectors. These included
the hotel, manufacturing, infocomm, security and
retail sectors. The study will be extended to cover the
healthcare sector as well.

-- WDA held the first Retail CEO Roundtable session,
themed “How training can Improve Productivity and
Tackle Manpower Challenges”, at the Four Seasons
Hotel on 2 October 2012. The session provided retail
CEOs with a platform to share ideas and exchange
solutions regarding manpower, innovation and
productivity issues..
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Staying Ahead
[ with ]

NICF
Savant Degrees
Savant Degrees, a home-grown
ICT SME established in 2009,
helps companies, such as Nike
and Converse, maintain their
competitive edge by offering a
suite of services ranging from
innovation consulting to product
development. Looking to enhance
their talent management practices
and beef up their IT capabilities,
Savant Degrees adopted the National Infocomm Competency Framework
(NICF) in Sep 2011. Since then, they have been able to better manage and
engage their IT talent. As Mr Zwee Wee (Founder and CEO) explains,
“We adopted the NICF to better manage the IT talent in our company.
After adopting the NICF, we noticed better employee commitment. Our
employees are able to be involved in crafting out their own career path and
they are happy to see the company’s development plans for them.
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Morphing

The only European brand that produces intimate apparel
designed and tailored to embrace Asian women’s curves,
Triumph upped its game by introducing an innovative and
interactive shapewear shopping experience in Singapore
through a Singapore Workforce Skills Qualifications
(WSQ) programme under the Productivity Initiatives in
Services & Manufacturing (PRISM). The “Shapewear
Cocoon” concept was born when 43 executives and
managers from its Singapore office participated in a
three-day WSQ course on service innovation, “Set Up
and Implement Systems and Strategies that Support
Service Innovation”. After the course, Triumph enhanced
the customer shopping experience
by incorporating technology with
personal consultation. Customers are
given a personalised assessment of
their figures coupled with visual aids
such as “Before and After” images
through an iPad and given valueadded tips such as breast and butt
firming exercises. The project was
a resounding success. Sales tripled
compared to the same period in
the previous year and Triumph also
doubled its memberships.

[ into ]

Success
Triumph International
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Small
Changes Lead
[ to ]

Big Results
Add-Plus Electronic

Thanks to the SME Quality Initiatives
to Assist, Nurture and Grow (SME
Qiang)
programme,
Add-Plus
Electronic broke new ground in
reducing wastage and increasing its
production volume in the washing process of its burn-in boards. Beyond just
providing training, SME Qiang provided opportunities for Add-Plus Electronic
to collaborate with Singapore Manufacturers’ Federation (SMa) consultants to
implement productivity improvement projects on a hands-on basis, based on
proven productivity techniques. After a review, the team made improvements,
such as modifying the water spray direction and eliminating the redundant
spraying of the same area. The modifications resulted in reducing the
washing effort from 11.9 man-hours to 8.6 man-hours, which is a productivity
improvement of 27%. The project not only dovetailed with the company’s
efforts to cope with high labour costs, it also transformed the team members’
mindset on change. Encouraged by their achievements, the team is looking into
areas of possible improvements in other work processes, such as wave soldering
and preparation of components.
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Fostering
a

Strong Continuing
Education and Training
(CET) Community
To build and grow Singapore’s companies and workforce, a
strong CET system is absolutely essential. However, that can
only be sustained by a strong CET community, which is why
WDA continually seeks to foster its growth. With a thriving CET
community, CET in Singapore will continue to grow, benefiting
both individuals and companies in Singapore’s working landscape.

Fostering
a

Strong Continuing Education
and Training (CET) Community
Strengthening the CET Infrastructure
WDA continues to improve the quality of CET, ensuring
that it remains relevant to workers and companies. With
the introduction of the Training and Adult Education
Professional Competency model (TAEPCM), CET
practitioners such as adult educators, training managers,
human resource development managers and workforce
development specialists can look forward to flexible
upgrading pathways to plan their career trajectory,
enabling them to take on multiple roles towards nurturing
a more inclusive CET professional community.
To enable the CET community to adopt alternative modes
of training to better suit different learning environments,
the Institute for Adult Learning (IAL) has articulated
a Blended Learning Model that encompasses a hybrid
mode of e-learning and classroom training. The model
comprises the goals of blended learning, a learning object
strategy, an example of a blended learning programme
and the components for learning facilitation, collaboration
and assessment. Subsequently, IAL rolled out a series of
workshops to build capability of expertise in e-learning
design, development and facilitation.
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Fostering a Strong
CET Community
International Recognition
WDA signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
with ASIS International to recognise Security WSQ
Diploma courses for the purpose of Certified Protection
Professional (CPP) re-certification. ASIS International is
a leading global organisation for security professionals,
and is renowned for its programmes that enhance the
effectiveness and productivity of the security industry.
The CPP certification is an internationally recognised
qualification awarded to professionals who can manage
complex security issues that threaten people and the assets
of government and private corporations. The recognition
by ASIS International signifies the global recognition of the
Security WSQ Diploma training as a yardstick of quality.

Deepening Strategic Partnerships
WDA deepened the strategic partnerships that it has built
with its various partners:

Partner

Highlights

Energy Market Authority (EMA)

Participated in an industry-led Power Sector Manpower Taskforce (PSMT)
formed by EMA, to identify and map out manpower strategies in the power utilities sector.

Institute of Service Excellence
(ISES)

Collaborated with ISES to conduct a survey to ascertain the quantitative impact
of Service Excellence WSQ training on the industry.

Ministry of Education (MOE) and
Polytechnics

• Embarked on pilot mapping of WSQ and polytechnics’ academic CET
programmes (in the areas of Mechanical and Precision Engineering and
Adult Education), to allow credit exemptions for enrolment in either WSQ or
polytechnic qualifications.
• Collaborated with MOE’s Special Education Branch for a three-year pilot project
to provide students from Special Schools with funding for WPLN assessments.

Ministry of Health (MOH)

Collaborated with MOH to champion the articulation of the WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Healthcare Support (Nursing Care) in ITEs’ NITEC in Nursing,
which is a two-year course that trains Enrolled Nurses.

Ministry of Social and Family
Development (MSF)

Collaborated with MSF to enhance the quality of childcare professionals, by
jointly developing the WSQ Early Years Development Framework (EYDF) and
co-funding the relevant EYDF training programmes.

National Environmental Agency
(NEA)

Partnered NEA to roll out a WSQ Food Safety Management programme for food
establishment, which will be a licensing requirement starting from October 2013.
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Partner

Highlights

PUB, the National Water Agency

Partnered PUB to develop a full suite of WSQ training programmes that encompass the water life cycle, starting from collection and treatment, before distribution to consumers.

Singapore Chemical Industry
Council (SCIC)

Partnered SCIC to transit its regulatory course under MOM to the Process
WSQ framework.

Singapore Civil Defence Force
(SCDF)

Partnered SCDF to use Process WSQ training to train the Company Emergency
Response Team (CERT) under SCDF’s National CERT Standard from October
2013.

United Workers of Electronics and Partnered UWEEI, the Employment and Employability Institute (e2i) and EDB
Electronic Industries (UWEEI)
to roll out a resilience package called the Manufacturing Resilience Tripartite
Programme (MERP), for affected companies and workers in the manufacturing
and logistics sector.
Workplace Safety and Health
Council (WSHC)

• Collaborated with WSHC to align bizSAFE training to WSQ standards and
enhance the quality of workplace safety training. The WSQ courses were rolled
out in January 2013.
• Partnered WSHC to transit their mandated courses to the relevant Manufacturing
WSQ frameworks, such as the Process WSQ framework, from July 2013.

Create Virtual Communities
with appointed training partners and government agencies
online via chats and webinars.

Social networking is fast becoming a norm, and WDA
sought to create online communities where members can
interact and collaborate any time, anywhere:

Facebook and Twitter (61,300 fans gained since
inception!)
Several interesting activities were organised on Facebook
to engage stakeholders, including contests and quizzes
such as the “My Valentine Floristry WSQ” photo contest.
WDA Twitter proved to be invaluable during the IAL Adult
Learning Symposium, where it was used to update followers
about happenings at the symposium.

CET Exchange
Education Network (AEN) and organisations to collaborate
and seek opportunities for professional jobs and business
projects in the continuing education and training sector, so
as to build up our CET infrastructures and capabilities.
Explore Creative Industries (CI) Virtual World
“Explore CI WSQ 2012”, which ran from 26 July to 31
December 2012, is an online creative exchange hub that
provides visitors with one-stop access to training, career
opportunities and key initiatives for the CI. CI Virtual
World allows visitors to select their own avatars and interact

F&B Careers Network Portal
The portal enables F&B employees and job seekers to
access the latest information about industry trends and
developments, as well as exchange working tips.
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FOSTERING A STRONG
CET COMMUNITY
Qualifications
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Plans
for FY13
Sustainability and growth are crucial for the progress of
Singapore’s workforce. Because this is at the heart of what we
do at WDA, our strategies, policies and initiatives always seek to
engage Singapore’s workers and grow a vibrant and sustainable
ecosystem. Through this, we can achieve better productivity, as
well as greater resilience.

PLans
For FY 13
FY 13 Strategies
In FY13, WDA will move forward with its plans to move Singaporeans into sustainable jobs and careers, cultivate a
lifelong learning culture, and develop a high-quality and sustainable workforce development ecosystem. To achieve these
goals, WDA will adopt the four strategies listed below:

1. Strengthen Productivity
and Drive Inclusive Growth
•

Provide greater assistance to older, lower-wage
Singaporeans by enhancing the Workfare
Training Support (WTS) scheme

•

Help economically inactive and mature
Singaporeans to return to and remain in
the workforce through the newly launched
WorkPro programme

•

Provide greater assistance for companies to
train its employees through the newly launched
Enterprise Training Support (ETS) programme

•

Collaborate with various agencies to facilitate
employment and training for various niche
worker segments such as Persons with
Disabilities, early school leavers and exoffenders, as we move towards inclusive growth

•

More programmes to help PMEs to
enhance their employability and widen their
employment opportunities

•

More PME-level Continuing Education and
Training (CET) programmes

•

More upgrading pathways

•

Assist companies to move away from a
manpower-led approach to a transformation
led by productivity and innovation, through
the newly defined Service Excellence
Competency Framework

2.	Drive Greater
Empowerment of Skills
Upgrading and Career
Development
•

Embark on a project to build an Individual
Learning Portfolio (ILP), where companies
and individuals can access a comprehensive
suite of e-services to meet their CET needs

•

Increase accessibility of CET information by
enhancing mobile platforms such as LearnSG

•

Organise Our Singapore Conversation (OSC)
dialogue sessions to discuss how we can fulfil
Singaporeans’ career aspirations in the future
economy.
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3. Build a Vibrant Selfsustaining Skill
Ecosystem

4. Achieve Organisational
Excellence

•

Research into the evolving demands of work
and implications for the design of the CET
system

•

Research into skills utilisation and changing
skill needs to improve company performance
and effectiveness

•

Work with CET stakeholders to transform
learning and workplace performance through
a holistic approach that links skills, productivity
and job design

•

Build a more collaborative culture and
conducive working environment

•

Enhance strategic branding and stakeholder
engagement

•

Build forward-planning capabilities
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Looking to
the future
Upcoming Major Events in FY13

WDA turns 10!

Commemorative Book:
Learning to Learn as a Nation

WDA has made tremendous strides towards the goal of
a competitive workforce. To mark the 10th year of WDA’s
establishment, WDA will embark on various marketing
initiatives to engage individuals and companies to
emphasise the importance of continuous upgrading.

This will be Singapore’s first comprehensive public
documentation of CET since its independence, and it will
commemorate WDA’s 10th anniversary and the opening
of the national CET campuses. The publication aims
to capture the story of Singapore learning to learn as a
nation, and how and why this has always been an area of
sustained national investment.
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CET Campuses – Coming Soon

Construction of the Devan Nair Institute of Employment
and Employability at Jurong East (CET West Campus) has
been completed in July 2013 and became operational from
mid-August 2013. Construction of the Lifelong Learning
Institute at Paya Lebar Central (CET East Campus) is
expected to be completed, and the institute will commence
operations by the end of 2013. As part of WDA’s
continuous efforts to strengthen the CET ecosystem, both
campuses will serve as centres for training, assessment and
career services, and promote lifelong learning.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”)
set out on pages 3 to 37, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2013, the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in capital and accumulated surplus and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Agency’s Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Agency’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Workforce Agency Act, Cap. 305D (the “Act”) and Statutory Board
Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Agency’s management as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory
Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Agency as at
31 March 2013, and the results, changes in capital and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the Agency for the financial
year ended on that date.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (continued)
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Agency’s Management’s Responsibility for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements
The Agency’s management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and
the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. This responsibility includes
implementing accounting and internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the
provisions of the Act.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial statements.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and performed the compliance
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, expenditure,
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, noncompliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on
management’s compliance.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the receipts, expenditure, investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Agency during the
financial year ended 31 March 2013 are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and

(b)

proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Agency whether
purchased, donated or otherwise.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 17 July 2013
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note
Operating income

3

Other income

4

Other (losses)/gains - net

5

Expenditure
- Amortisation of intangible assets
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- Employee compensation
- Grant disbursements
- Rental expenses on operating leases
- Professional services
- Maintenance expenses
- Supplies and materials
- Public relations
- Travel expenses
- Agency fee paid to Central Provident Fund Board
- GST expenses
- Temporary staff cost
- Course-related trainers’ fees
- Cancellable operating lease expenses
- Others

13
12
6

Deficit before Government grants
Grants from the Government

7

Surplus/(deficit) before contribution to Consolidated Fund
Contribution to Consolidated Fund
Net surplus/(deficit) and total comprehensive
income/(loss) for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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8

General fund
$

2012
Restricted funds
$

5,077,936

650,618

3,780,778

4,431,396

155,587

312,611

163,078

79,186

242,264

(149,102)

(43,467)

(192,569)

(234,060)

18,606

(215,454)

(2,164,525)
(611,744)
(27,991,291)
(1,163,830)
(3,386,005)
(4,928,898)
(2,047,553)
(436,852)
(337,275)
(276,116)
(990,358)
(545,137)
(1,178,714)
(807,305)
(46,865,603)

(692,898)
(2,242,694)
(34,500,028)
(86,177,417)
(1,671,424)
(13,415,847)
(3,711,253)
(1,449,786)
(6,512,000)
(251,791)
(664,298)
(1,592,766)
(2,254,977)
(3,310,791)
(2,225,323)
(1,059,102)
(161,732,395)

(2,857,423)
(2,854,438)
(62,491,319)
(87,341,247)
(5,057,429)
(18,344,745)
(5,758,806)
(1,886,638)
(6,849,275)
(527,907)
(664,298)
(2,583,124)
(2,800,114)
(3,310,791)
(3,404,037)
(1,866,407)
(208,597,998)

(2,088,308)
(987,678)
(38,919,287)
(1,000,000)
(3,740,894)
(6,518,035)
(2,860,107)
(644,928)
(266,243)
(499,336)
(1,244,333)
(1,911,536)
(3,118,585)
(1,394,603)
(65,193,873)

(378,415)
(1,297,067)
(13,720,973)
(53,749,742)
(1,339,801)
(8,107,862)
(2,750,754)
(1,641,476)
(514,600)
(106,760)
(631,040)
(484,275)
(778,619)
(2,988,475)
(548,034)
(89,037,893)

(2,466,723)
(2,284,745)
(52,640,260)
(54,749,742)
(5,080,695)
(14,625,897)
(5,610,861)
(2,286,404)
(780,843)
(606,096)
(631,040)
(1,728,608)
(2,690,155)
(2,988,475)
(3,118,585)
(1,942,637)
(154,231,766)

(46,839,185)

(156,560,835)

(203,400,020)

(64,614,237)

(85,159,323)

(149,773,560)

64,684,747

156,560,835

221,245,582

61,920,815

85,184,811

147,105,626

17,845,562

-

17,845,562

(2,693,422)

25,488

(2,667,934)

(3,033,746)

-

(3,033,746)

-

-

-

14,811,816

-

14,811,816

(2,693,422)

25,488

(2,667,934)

General fund
$

2013
Restricted funds
$

18,496

5,059,440

157,024

Total
$

Tan Pheng Hock
Chairman

Total
$

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive

17 July 2013
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March 2013

Note

2013
$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Trade and other receivables
Other assets

9
10
11

67,984,676
8,796,286
3,040,221
79,821,183

30,766,236
13,216,015
1,868,281
45,850,532

Non-current assets
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

11
12
13

1,201,018
150,933,848
9,259,470
161,394,336

63,250,610
7,213,600
70,464,210

241,215,519

116,314,742

Total assets

2012
$

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables
Provision for contribution to consolidated fund
Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment
Government grants received in advance

14
8
15
16

25,411,114
3,033,746
881,635
22,505,152
51,831,647

23,030,046
242,446
8,031,811
31,304,303

Non-current liabilities
Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment
Deferred Government capital grants

15
17

3,557,946
157,166,666
160,724,612

4,503,138
66,659,857
71,162,995

212,556,259

102,467,298

28,659,260

13,847,444

Total liabilities
Net assets

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March 2013

Note
EQUITY
Capital account
Share capital
Accumulated surplus
- General fund
- Restricted funds

18

19

Net assets of trust funds*
Skills Development Fund
Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
Skills Redevelopment Programme
*

20
21
22

2013
$

2012
$

7,872,073
1,000

7,872,073
1,000

19,623,330
1,162,857
20,786,187

4,811,514
1,162,857
5,974,371

28,659,260

13,847,444

1,156,616,328
5,908,877
1,162,525,205

1,164,021,279
1,651,142
10,000
1,165,682,421

The trust funds are funds where the Agency is not the owner and beneficiary of. The Agency administers the funds on
behalf of the holders of the funds.

Tan Pheng Hock
Chairman

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive

17 July 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Capital
account
$

Accumulated surplus
General
Restricted
fund
funds
Subtotal
$
$
$

Share
capital*
$

Total
$

2013
Beginning of financial year

7,872,073

1,000

4,811,514

1,162,857

5,974,371

13,847,444

Total comprehensive income for
the financial year

-

-

14,811,816

-

14,811,816

14,811,816

End of financial year

7,872,073

1,000 19,623,330

1,162,857 20,786,187 28,659,260

2012
Beginning of financial year

7,872,073

1,000

7,504,936

1,137,369

8,642,305

16,515,378

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the financial year

-

-

(2,693,422)

25,488

(2,667,934)

(2,667,934)

7,872,073

1,000

4,811,514

1,162,857

5,974,371

13,847,444

End of financial year
*

The capital account represents the Government’s capital contribution for the establishment of the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the financial year before Government grants
Adjustments for:
- Amortisation and depreciation
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
- Interest income
Change in working capital
- Trade and other receivables
- Other assets
- Other payables
Net cash used in operating activities

2013
$

2012
$

(203,400,020)

(149,773,560)

5,711,861
225,395
(149,256)
(197,612,020)

4,751,468
256,476
(202,840)
(144,968,456)

9,304,359
(2,372,958)
2,325,043
(188,355,576)

2,388,950
(515,947)
1,768,528
(141,326,925)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets
Net cash used in investing activities

(95,916,342)
175,302

(58,290,801)
93,514

(95,741,040)

3,562
(58,193,725)

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants received from Government
Net cash generated from financing activities

321,315,056
321,315,056

201,850,666
201,850,666

37,218,440
30,766,236
67,984,676

2,330,016
28,436,220
30,766,236

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

9
9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.

General information
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”) was established in The Republic of Singapore
under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D. The address of the registered office
and principal place of operations of the Agency is No. 1 Marina Boulevard #16-01, One Marina Boulevard,
Singapore 018989.
The principal activities of the Agency are:
(a)

to serve as the national body in the areas of adult continuing education and training, and the facilitation
of employment and re-employment, and to advise and make recommendations to the Government on
matters, measures and regulations connected with such areas, including formulation of policies, and the
provision of infrastructure and facilities in relation to such areas;

(b)

to promote, facilitate and assist in the development of adult continuing education and training so as to
enhance the competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce;

(c)

to collaborate with industries and economic agencies to identify and promote the enhancement of industryspecific skills;

(d)

to promote the development, competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce through coordination with economic agencies;

(e)

to support, facilitate and assist in the re-employment of unemployed or retrenched persons through job
referral, retraining, upgrading of skills and other employment facilitation efforts;

(f)

to enhance, promote and support the use and improvement of best practices in the management of human
capital and workforce skills development in Singapore;

(g)

to encourage, promote and facilitate the development of the human resources industry in Singapore;

(h)

to promote, facilitate and assist in the identification, development and upgrading of skills and competencies
required of the workforce to support Singapore’s economy;

(i)

to support, direct, encourage and undertake research in adult continuing education and training;

(j)

to direct, promote and facilitate the upgrading of adult continuing education and training infrastructure,
and the upgrading of professional standards of adult trainers;

(k)

to establish and implement regulatory policies, codes of practice, strategies, measures or any other
requirements so as to enhance the professional standards of adult continuing education and training
offered in Singapore;

(l)

to administer programmes for adult continuing education and training;

(m)

to undertake the promotion of lifelong learning and to create, foster and encourage public awareness and
understanding of the importance of lifelong learning;
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

1.

General information (continued)
The principal activities of the Agency are: (continued)
(n)

to administer the Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) in accordance with the Skills Development Levy
Act (Cap. 306);

(o)

to provide financial support by way of grants, loans or otherwise so as to give effect to the functions and
objects of the Agency;

(p)

to undertake, direct and support the analysis and dissemination of labour market information and trends
to the public;

(q)

to represent the Government internationally in respect of matters relating to adult continuing education
and training and public employment services; and

(r)

to carry out such other functions as are imposed upon the Agency by or under the Act or any other written law.

2.

Significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards
(“SB-FRS”), established by the Accountant-General’s Department. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies as below.
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Agency’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and assumptions. There are no areas of significant estimates or judgement used in the
preparation of these financial statements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2012
On 1 April 2012, the Agency adopted the new or amended SB-FRS that is mandatory for application from that
date. Changes to the Agency’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the relevant
transitional provisions in the respective SB-FRS.
The adoption of these new or amended SB-FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Agency’s accounting
policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2

Income recognition
(a)

(b)

Workers’ assessment fees, application fees and course fees
(i)

Workers’ assessment fees are recognised when the assessment tests are undertaken.

(ii)

Application fees are recognised when the application to be an approved training organisation or
application for courses’ accreditation have been approved.

(iii)

Course fees are recognised upon attendance of the courses by the participants.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.3

Trust funds
Trust funds are funds where the Agency is not the owner and beneficiary of. The Agency is merely administering
the funds on behalf of the holders of these funds. The income and expenditure of these funds are taken to the
funds accounts and the net assets relating to these funds are shown as separate line items on the balance sheet.
Trust funds include Skills Development Fund, Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund and Skills Redevelopment
Programme (“SRP”).
Trust funds are accounted for on an accrual basis, except for the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund which is
accounted for on a cash basis. The administration of the SRP was transferred from NTUC to the Agency from 1
January 2007, funded by MDAS up to 31 March 2009 and subsequently funded by LLEF up to 31 March 2010.
With effect from 1 April 2010, the absentee payroll is directly disbursed to the companies by WDA by using SDF
and NTUC has returned all unutilised grants in 2013 after the commitment for the absentee payroll under SRP
is fully disbursed.

2.4

Grants from the Government
The Agency receives various types of grants to meet its operating and development expenditure. The various
types of grants received are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17 of the financial statements.
Government grants received for the purchase or the construction of depreciable assets are accounted for as
deferred capital grants. The deferred capital grants are amortised and charged to income and expenditure over
the period necessary to match the annual depreciation charge of these assets or when the assets are disposed
or written off. Where the grants relate to an expense item, it is recognised in income and expenditure over the
periods necessary to match them on a systematic basis, to the costs, which it is intended to compensate.
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied with.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5

Deferred Government capital grant
The deferred Government capital grant is amortised and charged to income and expenditure over the periods
necessary to match the depreciation of the property, plant and equipment financed by the related grant. On
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the balance of the related grant is recognised in income and
expenditure to match the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed.

2.6

Employee compensation
(a)

Defined contribution plans
The Agency’s contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee compensation
expense when the contributions are due, unless they can be capitalised as an asset.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

2.7

Operating leases
The Agency leases certain property, plant and equipment from third parties.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are
retained by the lessors are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessors) are recognised in income and expenditure on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

2.8

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added
to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Agency and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance
expenses are recognised in income and expenditure when incurred.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Useful lives
30 years
8 years
5 years
3 to 5 years

Leasehold land
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Computer equipment
No depreciation is charged on construction-in-progress.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its
carrying amount is recognised in income and expenditure within “Other (losses)/gains – net”.
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in
income and expenditure when the changes arise.
2.9

Intangible assets
Acquired computer software
Acquired computer software are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any discounts
and rebates) and other directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. Costs associated with
maintaining the computer software are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Computer software are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. These costs are amortised to income and expenditure using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of three to five years.
No amortisation is charged on assets under development.
The amortisation period and amortisation method of the intangible assets are reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in income and expenditure
when the changes arise.

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication
that these assets may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount
is recognised as an impairment loss in income and expenditure.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of
this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is
recognised in income and expenditure.

2.11

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.
The Agency assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that these financial assets are
impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default or significant delay in payments are
objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is
calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

2.12

Other payables
Other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.13

Provisions
Provisions for other liabilities and charges are recognised when the Agency has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.

2.14

Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in values, deposits held at call with a central Government agency and Centralised
Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Departments
(“AGD”) (i.e. Centralised Liquidity Management deposits).
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14

Cash and bank deposits (continued)
Under the Accountant-General Circular No.4/2009 dated 2 November 2009, the Agency is required to
participate in the Centralised Liquidity Management Framework (“CLM”). Under the CLM, all bank accounts
maintained with selected banks will be linked up with AGD’s bank accounts such that excess available cash can
be automatically aggregated for central management on a daily basis. The Agency will continue to own/act as
trustees for their funds and operate its bank accounts, including giving instructions for payment and revenue
collection. These balances are included in cash and cash equivalents as “Centralised Liquidity Management
(“CLM”) deposits held with Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department”.

2.15

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying
amounts.

2.16

Contribution to Consolidated Fund
The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations
(Contribution to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is pegged at the prevailing statutory
income tax rate for corporate bodies.
Accounting surplus would be used for the purpose of computing the Contribution and this is accounted for on an
accrual basis.

2.17

Currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Agency.
Transactions in a currency other than Singapore Dollars (“foreign currency”) are translated into Singapore
Dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in income and
expenditure.

3.

Operating income

Workers’ assessment fees
Application fees
Course fees
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2013
$

2012
$

2,202,627
328,755
2,546,554
5,077,936

1,775,200
604,248
2,051,948
4,431,396

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

4.

Other income
2013
$
Interest income from:
- Short-term bank deposits
- CLM deposits with Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
Other

5.

30
149,226
163,355
312,611

2012
$
107
202,733
39,424
242,264

Other (losses)/gains - net
2013
$
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Currency translation gains

(225,395)
32,826
(192,569)

2012
$
(256,476)
41,022
(215,454)

6. Employee compensation
2013
$
Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Staff training and benefits
Skills Development Levy

53,910,150
6,928,164
1,579,991
73,014
62,491,319
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2012
$
45,641,867
5,757,695
1,177,342
63,356
52,640,260

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

7.

Grants from the Government
2012
$

2013
$
Government grants:
- Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
- Institute for Adult Learning (“IAL”)
- Re-investment Fund-Continuing Education and Training (“RF-CET”)
- Workfare Training Scheme (“WTS”)
- Operating grants
- Operations funded by Skills Development Fund (“SDF”)
- Operations funded by Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”)

Amortisation of deferred Government capital grants (Note 17)

14,861,849
66,963,091
19,205,052
61,834,932
37,204,435
15,784,239

18,554
12,903,842
43,230,000
10,395,000
59,012,441
12,158,727
5,184,722

215,853,598
5,391,984
221,245,582

142,903,286
4,202,340
147,105,626

Details of various government grants are disclosed in Note 16.

8. Provision for contribution to Consolidated Fund
The Agency is exempted from Singapore Income Tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.
The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations
(Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is based on the prevailing statutory
corporate income tax rate of 17% (2012: 17%) on any surplus before contribution to Consolidated Fund for the
financial year.
There is no contribution for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 as the Agency is in a net deficit position.
In the financial year ended 31 March 2013, the agency made a provision of $3,033,746 for contribution to the
Consolidated Fund based on the prevailing statutory corporate income tax rate.

9. Cash and bank deposits
2013
$
Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with the
Ministry of Finance, Accountant- General’s Department
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s
Department
Cash at bank and on hand
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2012
$

27,145,414

12,764,545

40,761,289
77,973
67,984,676

17,993,912
7,779
30,766,236

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

9. Cash and bank deposits (continued)
Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s
Department (“AGD”) earned interest based on fixed deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with
which AGD deposits the monies.
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department are non-interest bearing.

10. Trade and other receivables
2013
$

2012
$

Trade receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment
Trade receivables – net

781,908
(579)
781,329

237,016
(465)
236,551

Other receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment
Other receivables – net

3,042,810
(135)
3,042,675

2,761,423
(4,799)
2,756,624

Amount due from Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”)
Grant receivable from Skills Development Fund (“SDF”)

4,972,282
8,796,286

7,876,342
2,346,498
13,216,015

2013
$

2012
$

374,694
1,441,355

1,473,717

1,698,746
726,444
4,241,239
(1,201,018)
3,040,221

394,564
1,868,281
1,868,281

11. Other assets

Deposits
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Prepayments
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Less: Non-current portion
Current portion

Non-current other assets represent prepayment made to a vendor for the development of customised solution in
conjunction with a long term memorandum of agreement for the CREST System.
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12. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture
and fittings
$

Office
equipment
$

Computer
equipment
$

Leasehold Constructionland
in-progress
$
$

Total
$

2013
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Adjustment
Disposals
End of financial year

10,592,425
81,101
(249,978)
(406,081)
10,017,467

1,491,991
11,534
(66,851)
1,436,674

1,863,064 36,822,094 20,916,342 71,685,916
501,144
- 90,419,270 91,013,049
(249,978)
(53,655)
(526,587)
2,310,553 36,822,094 111,335,612 161,922,400

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

5,757,857
1,296,395
(188,787)
6,865,465

972,700
139,633
(62,266)
1,050,067

1,295,614
291,541
(50,139)
1,537,016

3,152, 002

386,607

Net book value
End of financial year

409,135
1,126,869
1,536,004

-

8,435,306
2,854,438
(301,192)
10,988,552

773,537 35,286,090 111,335,612 150,933,848

The projected cost of reinstatement is recognised as part of furniture and fittings arising from the lease of premises
and land by the Agency. During the year, the Agency made reassessment of the provision of the reinstatement
cost. The differences between the carrying amount and the revised estimates are reflected as adjustment.
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Furniture
and fittings
$

Office
equipment
$

2012
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

8,597,302
138,747
1,921,125
(64,749)
10,592,425

1,009,964
79,261
414,532
(11,766)
1,491,991

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

4,295,399
1,491,824
(29,366)
5,757,857

879,499
104,967
(11,766)
972,700

4,834,568

519,291

Net book value
End of financial year

Computer
equipment
$

Leasehold Constructionland
in-progress
$
$

2,065,502
485,198 36,822,094
(687,636)
1,863,064 36,822,094

1,651,036
278,819
(634,241)
1,295,614

409,135
409,135

Total
$

1,030,229 12,702,997
22,221,770 59,747,070
(2,335,657)
(764,151)
20,916,342 71,685,916

-

6,825,934
2,284,745
(675,373)
8,435,306

567,450 36,412,959 20,916,342 63,250,610
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13. Intangible assets
Computer
software
$

Assets under
development
$

Total
$

2013
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

12,555,458
1,885,980
195,143
(113,046)
14,523,535

149,357
3,017,313
(195,143)
2,971,527

12,704,815
4,903,293
(113,046)
17,495,062

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Amortisation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

5,491,215
2,857,423
(113,046)
8,235,592

-

5,491,215
2,857,423
(113,046)
8,235,592

Net book value
End of financial year

6,287,943

2,971,527

9,259,470

2012
Cost
Beginning of financial year
Additions
Reclassifications
Disposals
End of financial year

10,531,142
1,491,540
791,541
(258,765)
12,555,458

749,507
191,391
(791,541)
149,357

11,280,649
1,682,931
(258,765)
12,704,815

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year
Amortisation charge
Disposals
End of financial year

3,111,997
2,466,723
(87,505)
5,491,215

-

3,111,997
2,466,723
(87,505)
5,491,215

7,064,243

149,357

7,213,600

Net book value
End of financial year
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14. Other payables
Other payables
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Accrued operating expenses
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Advance receipts
- Related parties
- Non-related parties

2013
$

2012
$

6,141,335
4,552,563

1,171,950
1,969,187

4,383,145
10,097,771

2,811,654
16,716,289

10,233
226,067
25,411,114

11,777
349,189
23,030,046

2013
$

2012
$

15. Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment

Balance at beginning of financial year
Provision (utilised)/made during the financial year
Adjustment
Balance at end of financial year
Less: Current portion
Non-current portion

4,745,584
(56,025)
(249,978)
4,439,581
(881,635)
3,557,946

1,606,384
3,139,200
4,745,584
(242,446)
4,503,138

Provision for reinstatement of property, plant and equipment is the estimated costs to restore any or all parts of the Agency’s
leased premises and land to their state and condition as at the commencement of the lease terms. Management’s estimate
for reinstatement costs of land include expenditures to carry out demolition works, distress prestressed tendon, imported
earth backfilling and turfing. The provision is expected to be utilised upon return of the Agency’s leased premises and land.
Adjustment during the year pertains to reassessment of provision for reinstatement cost as disclosed in Note 12.

16. Government grants received in advance
(a)

Government grants received in advance for:

- CES
- IAL
- RF-CET
- WTS
- Operations funded by SDF
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2013
$

2012
$

2,462,888
1,289,978
686,910
1,169,506
16,895,870
22,505,152

2,462,842
92,150
1,193,975
4,282,844
8,031,811

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

16. Government grants received in advance (continued)
(b)

Movements in Government grants received in advance:

2013
Balance at beginning of financial year
Grants received in the financial year
Grants refunded in the financial year
Transfer to income and expenditure (Note 7)
Internal fund transfer
Transfer to deferred capital grants (Note 17)
Unutilised grant returned to Government
Transfer to amount due from LLEF

Balance at end of financial year

2012
Balance at beginning of financial year
Grants received in the financial year
Grants refunded in the financial year
Transfer to income and expenditure (Note 7)
Internal fund transfer
Transfer to deferred capital grants (Note 17)
Unutilised grant returned to Government
Transfer to amount due from LLEF

Balance at end of financial year

CES
$

IAL
$

2,462,842
46
2,462,888
-

16,058,279
16,058,279
(14,861,849)
100,199
(6,651)
(14,768,301)

2,462,888

1,289,978

2,460,368
21,028
2,481,396
(18,554)
(18,554)

11,771,080
11,771,080
(12,903,842)
97,559
(537,818)
1,573,021
(11,771,080)

2,462,842

-

	In the financial year ended 31 March 2011, $10 million grant was disbursed to fund the Cheap Better
Faster (“CBF”) initiative during its transition period and the same amount was fully refunded to the
Agency in the financial year ended 31 March 2012. The refund was recorded as a reversal of grant
disbursements and grants from the Government during the year and subsequently disbursed to RFCET programmes.

*
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Operations
Operations
funded by SDF funded by LLEF Operating grant
$
$
$

RF-CET
$

WTS
$

92,150
67,557,851
67,650,001
(66,963,091)
(66,963,091)

1,193,975
19,495,970
20,689,945
(19,205,052)
(315,387)
(19,520,439)

4,282,844
141,087,915
145,370,759
(37,204,435)
(21,406)
(91,249,048)
(128,474,889)

14,784,995
14,784,995
(15,784,239)
(39,016)
(3,872,416)
4,910,676
(14,784,995)

62,330,000
62,330,000
(61,834,932)
(39,777)
(455,291)
(62,330,000)

8,031,811
321,315,056
329,346,867
(215,853,598)
(95,898,793)
4,910,676
(306,841,715)

686,910

1,169,506

16,895,870

-

-

22,505,152

43,322,150
10,000,000*
53,322,150
(53,230,000)*
(53,230,000)

3,180,538
8,408,437
11,588,975
(10,395,000)
(10,395,000)

72,132,812
72,132,812
(12,158,727)
(12,225)
(55,679,016)
(67,849,968)

5,409,603
5,409,603
(5,184,722)
(778)
(385,408)
161,305
(5,409,603)

60,785,556
60,785,556
(59,012,441)
(84,556)
(1,688,559)
(60,785,556)

5,640,906
201,850,666
10,000,000
217,491,572
(152,903,286)
(58,290,801)
1,734,326
(209,459,761)

1,193,975

4,282,844

-

-

8,031,811

92,150
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Total
$

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

16. Government grants received in advance (continued)
Centre for Employability Skills
In November 1998, the Bukit Merah Skills Development Centre (“BMSDC”) was established as part of the offbudget measure to offer full-time training facilities for workers and to expand training resources for companies in
Singapore. In 2007, the centre was repositioned into a Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”) which coordinates
and delivers courses, appraises and assesses workers’ and trainees’ skills and provides facilities for organisations
to operate training and administer Employability Skills System and Workforce Skills Qualification. The balance
amount from the former BMSDC was transferred by the Institute of Technical Education to the Agency. The
centre manager was Nanyang Polytechnic (“NYP”) in FY2005 and FY2006. In FY2007, the Agency took
over the assessment function from NYP while appointing Employment and Employability Institute (“E2I”) as
managing agent of the premises for a period of 2 years from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2009. The Agency has
since relinquished the Temporary Occupation Licence for the premises with effect from 1 April 2009 and E2I has
taken over the lease of the premises while the assessment function still remains with the Agency.
Institute for Adult Learning
Institute for Adult Learning (“IAL”) was set up as a Division of the Agency in April 2008 as part of the Continuing
Education and Training (“CET”) Master Plan approved by the Cabinet in December 2007. It is set up as a
“Centre for Adult Pedagogy” to ensure high quality CET practices and research among adult educators. The set
up and operation of IAL is fully funded by the LLEF.
Reinvestment Fund - Continuing Education & Training
The Reinvestment Fund from the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) for Continuing Education & Training Reinvestment Fund (“RF-CET”) was introduced in the Government Budget 2010 for the implementation of the
Skills Programme for Upgrading and Resilience (“SPUR”) and other CET initiatives to strategise for Singapore’s
sustained and inclusive growth. RF-CET is targeted to further build up the current CET system to prepare the
workforce for the future. This includes broadening the number of sectors covered in CET, deepening the skills
included and provides more upgrading pathways for the workforce.
Workfare Training Support
Workfare Training Support (“WTS”) is a 3-year scheme which started on 1 July 2010 introduced in the
Government Budget 2010 to complement the Workfare Income Supplement (“WIS”). WTS aims to incentivise
employers to send their low-waged workers for training as well as to encourage low-waged workers to commit to
sustained training efforts. While WIS encourages older low-wage workers to work by supplementing their income
and retirement savings, WTS encourages them to upgrade their skills through training so that they can improve
their employability, upgrade to better jobs and earn more.
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16. Government grants received in advance (continued)
Operations funded by Skills Development Fund and Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
In recent years, the Agency’s activities and operations have expanded rapidly to react to greater economic
downturns and uncertainties impacting the Singapore workforce. To finance the Agency’s increased operations,
management has obtained approval from the Board of Directors to fund expenditures on manpower, other
operating expenditures and development costs for selected CET functions using the Skills Development Fund
(“SDF”) and Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”). Starting FY2011, in areas permissible, the Agency
has been tapping on the SDF and LLEF to meet the increasing demands and needs of the Agency’s workforce
development efforts. These expenditures are for manpower and operating overheads and are related to the
delivery of specific CET programmes.

17. Deferred Government capital grants
2013
$
At beginning of financial year
Transferred from Government grants received (Note 16)
Amortisation of deferred Government capital grants (Note 7)
At end of financial year

66,659,857
95,898,793
162,558,650
(5,391,984)
157,166,666

2012
$
12,571,396
58,290,801
70,862,197
(4,202,340)
66,659,857

18. Share capital
The Agency’s share capital comprises fully paid up 1,000 (2012: 1,000) shares with no par value, amounting to a
total of $1,000 (2012: $1,000).
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19. Statement of comprehensive income - restricted funds
CES

IAL
2012
$

2013
$

RF-CET
2012
2013
$
$

2012
$

2013
$

Income
Operating income

-

-

2,903,965

2,051,948

-

-

Other income and other gains/
(losses) - net

-

783

29,360

68,718

6,754

24,705

-

-

-

-

Less: Expenditure
- Amortisation of intangible
assets
- Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
- Employee compensation
- Grant disbursements
- Rental expenses on
operating leases
- Professional services
- Maintenance expenses
- Supplies and materials
- Public relations
- Travel expenses
- Agency fee paid to Central
Provident Fund Board
- GST expenses
- Temporary staff cost
- Course-related trainers’ fees
- Cancellable operating lease
expenses
- Others

(34,477)
-

(34,477)
-

(196,734)

(189,355)

(531,437)
(6,739,981)
-

(582,552)
(6,097,299)
(24,000)

-

-

(627,601)
(4,511,600)
(552,740)
(541,165)
(300,982)
(117,164)

(673,382)
(2,454,227)
(770,129)
(717,085)
(178,123)
(84,791)

-

-

(248,248)
(475,614)
(3,310,651)

(163,926)
(518,125)
(2,988,475)

(66,972,365) (43,230,000)
(750)
-

3,270
-

-

(34,477)
(34,477)

(34,477)
(33,694)

(246,387)
(303,721)
(18,457,638) (15,687,856)
(15,524,313) (13,567,190)

(66,969,845) (43,230,000)
(66,963,091) (43,205,295)

Grants from the Government

34,477

34,477

15,524,313 13,567,190

66,963,091 43,230,000

Surplus before contribution to
Consolidated Fund

-

783

-

-

-

24,705

Contribution to Consolidated Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net surplus for the financial year

-

783

-

-

-

24,705

1,138,152 1,137,369

-

-

24,705

-

1,138,152 1,138,152

-

-

24,705

24,705

Deficit before Government grants

Accumulated surplus
brought forward
Accumulated surplus carried
forward
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WTS

Operations funded by SDF
2012
2013
$
$

2012
$

2013
$

Operations funded by LLEF
2012
2013
$
$

Total
2012
$

2013
$

-

-

-

-

2,155,475

1,728,830

5,059,440

3,780,778

-

-

51,189

533

24,817

3,053

112,120

97,792

(692,898)

(378,415)

(53,997)

(25,175)

(77,912)

(1,540)

(364,255)

(162,345)

(19,205,052) (10,495,742)

(1,575,918)
(23,176,008)
-

(512,139)
(5,928,236)
-

(100,862)
(4,584,039)
-

(167,899)
(1,695,438)
-

(2,242,694) (1,297,067)
(34,500,028) (13,720,973)
(86,177,417) (53,749,742)

-

-

(829,970)
(4,320,761)
(2,326,030)
(195,902)
(1,156,779)
(119,472)

(301,340)
(2,200,642)
(1,820,704)
(290,384)
(336,175)
(17,393)

(213,853)
(4,582,736)
(832,483)
(712,719)
(5,054,239)
(15,155)

(365,079)
(3,452,993)
(159,921)
(634,007)
(302)
(4,576)

(1,671,424)
(13,415,847)
(3,711,253)
(1,449,786)
(6,512,000)
(251,791)

(1,339,801)
(8,107,862)
(2,750,754)
(1,641,476)
(514,600)
(106,760)

-

100,742
-

(664,298)
(781,584)
(1,539,659)
-

(631,040)
(332,045)
(73,450)
-

(566,205)
(239,703)
(140)

(89,046)
(187,044)
-

(664,298)
(1,592,767)
(2,254,976)
(3,310,791)

(631,040)
(484,275)
(778,619)
(2,988,475)

(19,259,049) (10,420,175)
(19,259,049) (10,420,175)

(1,395,541)
(141,607)
(518,136)
(38,677,970) (12,586,695)
(38,626,781) (12,586,162)

(829,782)
(237,245)
(18,333,416)
(16,153,124)

(160,040)
(7,078,690)
(5,346,807)

(2,225,323)
(548,034)
(1,059,102)
(161,732,395) (89,037,893)
(156,560,835) (85,159,323)

19,259,049 10,420,175

38,626,781 12,586,162

16,153,124

5,346,807

156,560,835 85,184,811

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,488

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

25,488

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,162,857

1,137,369

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,162,857

1,162,857
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

20. Skills Development Fund
The Skills Development Fund (“SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on 1 October 1979 as a
Government fund under the Skills Development Levy Act (Cap. 306). With effect from 1 September 2003, the
administration of the SDF was transferred from the Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Agency.
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(i)

the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing to join the
workforce, persons in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;

(ii)

the retraining of retrenched persons; and

(iii)

the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the above-mentioned purposes.

The statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet of the SDF that is administered by the Agency for the
financial year ended are as follows:
(a)

Statement of comprehensive income
2013
$
Income
Operating income – Skills Development Levy
Other income – interest income
Fair value (losses)/gains
Less:
Expenditure
Disbursements
Less: Disbursement refunds
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Bad debts written off
Others
Total expenditure
Net (deficit)/surplus and total comprehensive (loss)/income for the
financial year

29
WDA Financial Statements

2012
$

210,092,055
9,562,678
2,343,374
221,998,107

194,530,939
8,397,907
(524,760)
202,404,086

(231,858,897)
2,488,803
(229,370,094)
(32,257)
(647)
(60)
(229,403,058)

(172,685,347)
2,069,707
(170,615,640)
(27,302)
(60)
(170,643,002)

(7,404,951)

31,761,084

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

20. Skills Development Fund (continued)
(b)

Balance sheet
2013
$
Capital account
Accumulated surplus at end of financial year
Represented by:
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Levy and other receivables
Grants paid in advance
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Non-current assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Total assets
Current liability
Payables
Net assets

2012
$

871,138,696
285,477,632
1,156,616,328

871,138,696
292,882,583
1,164,021,279

747,621,549
570,374
13,525,276
16,895,870
8,179,205
786,792,274

923,156,863
12,896,515
936,053,378

166,946,141
221,854,985
388,801,126

232,067,669
232,067,669

1,175,593,400

1,168,121,047

(18,977,072)

(4,099,768)

1,156,616,328

1,164,021,279

21. Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“LLEF”) is set up by the Singapore Government under the Lifelong
Learning Endowment Fund Act, Cap.162A for the acquisition of skills and expertise by persons and the
development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons to enhance their employability; and the promotion
of the acquisition, development and upgrading of skills and expertise to enhance the employability of persons.
The Agency has been appointed by the MOM as the administrator of the LLEF to receive and deploy the grant
for programmes that are congruent with the objectives of the LLEF.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

21. Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (continued)
The statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet of the LLEF that is administered by the Agency for
the financial year ended are as follows:
(a)

Statement of comprehensive income
2013
$

2012
$

2,776,456
14,969
2,791,425

4,791,618
4,095
4,795,713

Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Administrative expenses
Total expenditure

(117,648,636)
(50)
(117,648,686)

(123,839,922)
(78)
(123,840,000)

Deficit before grants

(114,857,261)

(119,044,287)

119,114,996

116,456,536

4,257,735

(2,587,751)

2013
$

2012
$

5,908,877

1,651,142

5,929,318
103,473
6,032,791

14,422,723
101,521
14,524,244

(123,914)

(12,873,102)

5,908,877

1,651,142

Receipts
Refund of unused grant from programme managers
Interest income

Grants received
Net surplus/(deficit) and total comprehensive income/(loss) for the
financial year
(b)

Balance sheet

Accumulated surplus at end of financial year
Represented by:
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Other current assets

Current liability
Payables
Net assets

The financial statements of the LLEF are prepared by MOM on a cash basis and audited by another audit firm.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

22. Skills Redevelopment Programme
The Skills Redevelopment Programme (“SRP”) is a national programme to help re-develop the skills of our
workers and enhance their employability through certifiable skills training and upgrading. Under the SRP,
companies can claim absentee payroll funding to defray manpower costs incurred when they send their employees
(who are Singapore Citizens or Permanent Residents of Singapore) for approved training courses. The SRP was
managed by the National Trades Union Congress (“NTUC”) up to 31 December 2006. The administration of
the SRP was transferred from NTUC to the Agency from 1 January 2007, funded by MDAS up to 31 March
2009 and subsequently funded by LLEF up to 31 March 2010. With effect from 1 April 2010, the absentee payroll
is directly disbursed to the companies by WDA by using SDF and NTUC has returned all unutilised grants in
2013 after the commitment for the absentee payroll under SRP is fully disbursed.

23. Commitments
(a)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements
are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
(b)

2013
$

2012
$

73,873,203
4,028,326
77,901,529

158,406,061
3,209,043
161,615,104

Operating lease commitments
The Agency leases office premises and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
leases typically run for 1 to 5 years with an option to renew the lease after that period.
The future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance
sheet date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
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2013
$

2012
$

6,809,490
5,555,599
12,365,089

6,841,194
12,324,104
19,165,298

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

24. Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Agency is subject to market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Agency recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect to discharge its regulatory
functions, objects and duties under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D. The Agency
has adopted risk management practices to mitigate these risks in a cost effective manner.
The Agency does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against
fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
(a)

Market risk
(i)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.
The Agency’s operations are not exposed to significant foreign currency risks as its transactions as well
as its assets and liabilities are predominantly denominated in Singapore Dollar.

(ii)

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The Agency has cash balances placed with reputable banks and financial institutions and CLM
deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department and has limited
exposure to interest rate risk as variable rate interest-bearing assets are mainly of a short-term nature.
The Agency manages its interest rate risk by placing such balances on varying maturities and interest
rate terms.
The interest rates for CLM deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s
Department are based on deposit rates determined by the financial institutions which the cash are
deposited and are expected to move in tandem with market interest rate movements.

(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Agency.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

24. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
The Agency’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade and other receivables. The
maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial assets is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.
The credit risk for trade and other receivables based on the information provided to key management is as
follows:

By counterparties
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
(i)

2013
$

2012
$

8,563,927
232,359
8,796,286

13,134,450
81,565
13,216,015

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Cash and bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits and cash with the
AGD. Deposits are held with a central government agency and financial institutions which have high
credit-ratings as determined by international credit-rating agencies. Cash with the AGD under the
Centralised Liquidity Management are placed with high credit quality financial institutions, and are
available upon request.

(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade and other
receivables.
The age analysis of trade and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due < 3 months
Past due 3 to 4 months
Past due over 4 months
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2013
$

2012
$

145,271
209
145,480

96,110
153,225
129
249,464

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

24. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired (continued)
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables individually determined to be impaired and the
movement in the related allowance for impairment are as follows:
2013
$
Past due over 3 months
Less: Allowance for impairment

Beginning of financial year
Allowance made
Allowance utilised
End of financial year

2012
$

714
(714)
-

5,264
(5,264)
-

5,264
714
(5,264)
714

5,264
5,264

The impaired trade and other receivables arise from receivables that are significantly aged.
(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due. The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient funding from the Government to finance
its operations.
The Agency’s financial liabilities are expected to mature within one year.

(d)

Capital risk
The Agency’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the Agency is adequately capitalised and
that it fulfils the objects for which monies of the Agency may be applied under the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D. The Agency defines capital as its equity and deferred capital grants.
The Agency is not subject to any capital requirements under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency
Act, Cap. 305D nor any other externally imposed capital requirements.

(e)

Fair value measurements
The carrying amount less impairment provision of trade receivables, other receivables and other payables
approximate to their fair values.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

24. Financial risk management (continued)
(f)

Financial Instruments by category
The aggregate carrying amounts of loans and receivables and financial liabilities at amortised costs are as
follows:

Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

2013
$

2012
$

78,597,011
28,444,860

45,455,968
23,030,046

25. Related party transactions
In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place
between the Agency and related parties at terms agreed between the parties. Related parties of the Agency are
Ministries, Organs of State and Statutory Boards of the Singapore Government.
(a)

Sales and purchases of goods and services
2013
$
Receipts from related parties:
Operating income
Other income
Payments to related parties:
Grant disbursements
Rental expenses on operating leases
Professional services
Maintenance expenses
Supplies and materials
Public relations
Travel expenses
Agency fee paid to Central Provident Fund Board
GST expenses
Course-related trainer’s fees
Cancellable operating lease expenses
Others

2012
$

1,446,811
182,356

956,388
203,697

21,940,280
1,829
4,226,304
2,174,787
64,443
92,194
5,270
664,298
613,233
73,950
3,404,037
298,156

6,087,893
3,391,504
1,371,692
59,111
23,441
3,918
631,040
503,976
2,502,279
324,765

Balances with related parties at the balance sheet date are unsecured and are disclosed in Notes 9, 10 and
14 respectively.
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SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

25. Related party transactions (continued)
(b)

Key management personnel compensation
Key management refers to the members of the Board of Directors and employees of Directors and above
designation who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Agency.

Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund

2013
$

2012
$

5,389,722
232,967
5,622,689

5,442,555
259,922
5,702,477

26. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and that are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013. The Agency does not expect that adoption
of these accounting standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Agency’s financial statements.

27. Authorisation of financial statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of
Singapore Workforce Development Agency on 17 July 2013.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Skills Development Fund (“SDF”) set out on pages 3 to 25,
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2013, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in capital and accumulated surplus and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. The SDF is administered by the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency (“WDA”).
WDA’s Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
WDA’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the provisions of the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306 (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting
Standards (“SB-FRS”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by WDA’s management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory
Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to present fairly, in all material respect state of affairs of the SDF as at 31
March 2013, and the results, changes in capital and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the SDF for the financial year
ended on that date.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
WDA’s Management’s Responsibility for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements
WDA’s management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. This responsibility includes implementing
accounting and internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the provisions of
the Act.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial statements.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and performed the compliance
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, expenditure,
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, noncompliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on
management’s compliance.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the receipts, expenditure, investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the SDF during the
financial year ended 31 March 2013 are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and

(b)

proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the SDF whether purchased,
donated or otherwise.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 17 July 2013
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note

2012
$

2013
$

Operating income

3

210,092,055

194,530,939

Other income

3

9,562,678

8,397,907

2,343,374

(524,760)

(231,858,897)
2,488,803
(229,370,094)
(32,257)
(647)
(60)
(229,403,058)

(172,685,347)
2,069,707
(170,615,640)
(27,302)
(60)
(170,643,002)

(7,404,951)

31,761,084

Fair value gains/(losses)
- Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Expenditure
- Disbursements
- Less: Disbursement refunds
- Allowance for impairment of receivables
- Bad debts written off
- Others
Total expenditure
Net (deficit)/surplus and total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the financial year

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Hui Mei San
Senior Director
Funds Policy and Management Division
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

17 July 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March 2013

Note

2012
$

2013
$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Levy and other receivables
Grants paid in advance
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

4
5
6
7
8

747,621,549
570,374
13,525,276
16,895,870
8,179,205
786,792,274

923,156,863
12,896,515
936,053,378

Non-current assets
Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets, held-to-maturity

9
8

166,946,141
221,854,985
388,801,126

232,067,669
232,067,669

1,175,593,400

1,168,121,047

18,977,072

4,099,768

1,156,616,328

1,164,021,279

871,138,696
285,477,632
1,156,616,328

871,138,696
292,882,583
1,164,021,279

Total assets
LIABILITY
Current liability
Payables

10

NET ASSETS
Represented by:
Capital account
Accumulated surplus

Wong Hong Kuan
Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Hui Mei San
Senior Director
Funds Policy and Management Division
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

17 July 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Capital
account *
$
2013
Beginning of financial year

Accumulated
surplus
$

871,138,696

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year

-

End of financial year

871,138,696

2012
Beginning of financial year

292,882,583 1,164,021,279
(7,404,951)

(7,404,951)

285,477,632 1,156,616,328

871,138,696

261,121,499

1,132,260,195

-

31,761,084

31,761,084

Total comprehensive income for the financial year
End of financial year

Total
$

871,138,696

292,882,583 1,164,021,279

	The capital account represents the Government’s capital contribution for the establishment of the Skills Development Fund.

*

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note

2013
$

2012
$

(7,404,951)

31,761,084

32,257
647
(2,343,374)
(9,547,968)
(19,263,389)

27,302
524,760
(8,367,859)
23,945,287

1,974,451
12,429,867
(16,895,870)
(21,754,941)

(3,695,625)
2,857,407
23,107,069

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets, held-to-maturity
Purchase of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss

(200,000,000)

(50,897,500)
-

Proceeds from financial assets, held-to-maturity
Proceeds from financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
Interest received
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities

11,823,729
(188,176,271)

24,000,000
268,987,941
8,779,536
250,869,977

(209,931,212)
923,156,863
713,225,651

273,977,046
649,179,817
923,156,863

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (deficit)/surplus for the financial year
Adjustments for:
- Allowance for impairment of receivables
- Bad debts written off
- Fair value (gains)/losses
- Interest income
Change in working capital
- Levy and other receivables
- Payables
- Grants paid in advance
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits at beginning of financial year
Cash and bank deposits at end of financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.

General information
The Skills Development Fund (the “SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on 1 October 1979 as
a Government fund under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306. With effect from 1 September 2003, the
administration of the SDF was transferred from the Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency (“WDA”).
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(a)

the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing to join the workforce,
persons in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;

(b)

the retraining of retrenched persons; and

(c)

the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the above-mentioned purposes.

The SDF which is administered by the WDA is exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income
Tax Act.
The address of the registered office and principal place of operations of the SDF is No.1 Marina Boulevard #1601, One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989.

2.

Significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards
(“SB-FRS”), established by the Accountant-General’s Department. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires WDA’s management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the SDF’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates and assumptions.
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2012
On 1 April 2012, the SDF adopted the new or amended SB-FRS that is mandatory for application from that
date. Changes to the SDF’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional
provisions in the respective SB-FRS.
The adoption of these new or amended SB-FRS did not result in substantial changes to the SDF’s accounting
policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2

Income recognition
(a)

Skills Development Levy
Income from Skills Development Levy is recognised on an accrual basis.

(b)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

2.3

Financial assets
(a)

Classification
The SDF classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables and held-to-maturity. The classification depends on the nature of the assets and the purpose
for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition and in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each
balance sheet date.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair
value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and their performances are
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented investment strategy. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are presented as current assets if they are expected to be realised within 12 months after the balance
sheet date.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing
later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans
and receivables are presented as “levy and other receivables” (Note 6) and “cash and bank deposits”
(Note 4) on the balance sheet.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3

Financial assets (continued)
(a)

Classification (continued)
(iii)

Financial assets, held-to-maturity
Financial assets, held-to-maturity, are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the WDA’s management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity. If the SDF were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity
financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. They are
presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 months after the balance sheet
date which are presented as current assets.

(b)

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which the SDF
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the SDF has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On
disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised
in income and expenditure.

(c)

Initial measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately as expenses.

(d)

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
and financial assets, held-to-maturity are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including the effects of
currency translation, interest and dividends, are recognised in income and expenditure when the changes
arise.

(e)

Impairment
The SDF assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3

Financial assets (continued)
(e)

Impairment (continued)
Loans and receivables / Financial assets, held-to-maturity
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default
or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which
is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised
against the same line item in income and expenditure.

2.4

Payables
Payables are initially recognised at their fair values, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

2.5

Derivative financial instruments
A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date the contract is entered into and
is subsequently carried at its fair value.
The carrying amount of a derivative designated as a hedge is presented as a non-current asset or liability if the
remaining expected life of the hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability if the
remaining expected life of the hedged item is less than 12 months. The fair value of a trading derivative is presented
as a current asset or liability.
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
External fund managers enter into derivative financial instruments on behalf of the SDF. These derivatives financial
instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Fair value changes for such derivative instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are included in income and expenditure in the financial year when the changes arise.

2.6

Currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the SDF.
Transactions in a currency other than Singapore Dollars (“foreign currency”) are translated into Singapore Dollars
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in income and expenditure.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7

Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value, deposits held at call with a central government agency and cash that is managed by the Accountant-General’s
Department (“AGD”) (i.e. Centralised Liquidity Management deposits).
Under the Accountant-General Circular No.4/2009 dated 2 November 2009, the SDF is required to participate in the
Centralised Liquidity Management Framework (“CLM”). Under the CLM, all bank accounts maintained with selected
banks will be linked up with AGD’s bank accounts such that excess available cash can be automatically aggregated for
central management on a daily basis. The SDF will continue to own/act as trustees for their funds and operate its bank
accounts, including giving instructions for payment and revenue collection. These balances are included in cash and
cash equivalents as “Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with Ministry of Finance, AccountantGeneral’s Department”.
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits with financial institutions, except those which are managed by the fund managers.

3.

Operating and other income
2013
$
Operating income
Skills development levy (“SDL”) from:
- Private sector
- Statutory boards
- Ministries and Organs of State
Other

Other income
Interest income from:
- bank deposits
- CLM deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, AGD
- financial assets, held-to-maturity
Other

Total

2012
$

191,351,512
6,669,448
12,059,829
11,266
210,092,055

177,033,843
6,214,916
11,269,797
12,383
194,530,939

62
6,378,072
3,169,834
14,710
9,562,678

52
5,417,052
2,950,755
30,048
8,397,907

219,654,733

202,928,846

SDL contribution is payable by employers for all employees up to the first $4,500 of gross monthly remuneration
at the rate of 0.25% or $2, whichever is higher.

11
SDF Financial Statements

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

4.

Cash and bank deposits
Note

Cash at bank
- Held by the SDF
- Held by fund managers
Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with the
Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, AccountantGeneral’s Department

2012
$

2013
$

10,275
34,395,898

7,693
-

709,500,554

912,273,354

3,714,822
747,621,549

10,875,816
923,156,863

9

The SDF’s cash at bank (excluding those managed by fund managers) are primarily denominated in Singapore Dollar.
Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) deposits held with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s
Department (“AGD”) earned interest based on fixed deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with which
AGD deposits the monies. Deposits held at call with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
are non-interest bearing.
For the purpose of presenting the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents exclude cash held by fund managers.

5.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments comprise fair value gain of the currency forwards for the investment managed by
external fund managers. The contracted notional principal amount of the derivative financial instruments outstanding
at balance sheet date is $119,115,172 (2012: Nil)
Contract
notional
amount
$

Fair value
Asset
$

Liability
$

Total
$

2013
Forwards foreign exchange contracts
(current position)

119,115,172

570,374

-

570,374

2012
Forwards foreign exchange contracts
(current position)

-

-

-

-

The SDF does not have non-current forwards foreign exchange contracts. As at 31 March 2013, the settlement dates
on forwards foreign exchange contracts range from 12 days to 78 days (2012: Nil).
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

6. Levy and other receivables
Note

Refund of assistance previously disbursed and underpaid levy
receivable
Less: Allowance for impairment
Refund of assistance previously disbursed and underpaid levy
receivable – net
Levy collection due from Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF”)
Interest receivable from bonds
Other receivables due from Singapore Workforce Development
Agency
Other receivables due from Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
Deposit
Amount due from brokers/fund managers
Dividend/Interest receivables from investment by fund managers

7.

9
9

2013
$

2012
$

116,005
(66,630)

100,404
(34,373)

49,375

66,031

1,775,782
4,272,733

1,249,533
4,515,015

4,412,588
-

475,252
6,590,684

136,400
2,314,665
563,733
13,525,276

12,896,515

Grants paid in advance
From 2011 onwards, in areas permissible, the SDF fund is being drawn down to finance WDA’s operations to meet
the increasing demands and needs of WDA’s workforce development efforts. As WDA’s activities and operations
have expanded rapidly to react to greater economic downturns and uncertainties impacting the Singapore
workforce, management has obtained approval from the Board of Directors to fund expenditures on manpower,
other operating expenditures and development costs for selected Continuing Education and Training (“CET”)
functions using the SDF. These expenditures are for manpower and operating overheads and are related to the
delivery of specific CET programmes. During the year, WDA has drawndown grants in excess of the actual
expenditures incurred. The excess which will be offset against 2013 projection of expenditure is recorded as grants
paid in advance by the SDF.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

8. Financial assets, held-to-maturity
2013
$
Quoted bonds
- Singapore Government bonds
- Statutory Board bonds

66,635,871
163,398,319
230,034,190
(8,179,205)
221,854,985

Less: Current portion
Non-current portion

2012
$

67,571,849
164,495,820
232,067,669
232,067,669

The quoted bonds have fixed interest rates ranging from 1.01% to 4.17% (2012: 1.01% to 4.17%) per annum and
have maturity periods ranging from 11 to 42 months (2012: 23 to 54 months).
Fair value of financial assets, held-to-maturity
The fair values of financial assets, held-to-maturity at the balance sheet date are as follows:
2013
$
Quoted Singapore Government bonds
Quoted Statutory Board bonds

68,264,200
165,667,540
233,931,740

2012
$
69,420,000
166,337,380
235,757,380

The fair values of quoted bonds are based on the last bid prices at the balance sheet date.

9. Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss
2013
$
At fair value on initial recognition
- Quoted equity securities
- Quoted debt securities

28,384,465
138,561,676
166,946,141

2012
$

-

The above funds are managed by external fund managers. During the year, the SDF placed $200 million of funds
with external fund managers. As at 31 March 2013, the funds placed with the external fund managers measured at
fair value through profit and loss amounted to $202,343,374 (2012: Nil).
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

9. Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
These items have been included in the respective current assets and liabilities in the SDF’s balance sheet as follows:
Note

Quoted equity securities
Quoted debt securities
Derivative financial instruments
Cash at bank and on hand
Amount due from brokers/fund managers
Dividend/Interest receivables
Amount due to brokers/fund managers

9
9
5
4
6
6
10

2013
$

2012
$
-

28,384,465
138,561,676
570,374
34,395,898
2,314,665
563,733
(2,447,437)
202,343,374

The terms of the management agreements provide the following:
(a)

management fee payable on a quarterly basis; and

(b)

performance fee payable to fund managers (determined at the end of the relevant fund management period)
for out-performance against relevant benchmarks.

10. Payables
Note
Assistance committed and payable and overpaid levy refundable
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Other payables
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
Amount due to brokers/fund managers
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2013
$

2012
$

5,457
16,451,633

1,448,357
2,584,154

61,545
11,000
2,447,437
18,977,072

58,727
8,530
4,099,768

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

11. Commitments
The following represents the training assistance granted by WDA and funded by the SDF and the grants committed
by SDF for the development of CET Campuses at the balance sheet date. The actual disbursement of the training
assistance grant commitments are subject to the fulfilment of the agreed conditions by the grant recipients.
2013
$
Training assistance committed for disbursement
CET campuses development committed for disbursement

243,526,449
151,796,776
395,323,225

2012
$
172,851,760
239,815,383
412,667,143

Training assistance grant commitments are administered through SkillsNet and SkillsConnect System and are
derived from gross commitments less disbursements and unutilised grants. Unutilised grants are classified as grants
that are more than 120 days from the programme end date in the SkillsConnect System and grants that are
withdrawn from the system by system users in the SkillsNet System.

12. Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The SDF is subject to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Financial risk management is integral for WDA’s management to discharge its regulatory functions, objects and
duties under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306. The WDA’s management has adopted risk management
practices to mitigate these risks in a cost effective manner. In addition, the Investment Committee of WDA is also
involved in formulating investment policies and guidelines, reviewing investment strategy and performance of the
fund managers and monitoring the results of the investments. The investment risk analysis is also included in the
risk treatment plan that is reviewed semi-annually by the Audit Risk Committee.
Funds with fund managers
In connection with the funds placed with fund managers, the funds placed with fund managers are exposed to a
variety of financial risk: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk).
The fund managers appointed are held responsible in achieving the investment objectives set forth in their respective
investment management agreements entered with the Agency. All income and realised capital gains are to be
reinvested by the fund managers unless otherwise instructed by the Agency.
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

12. Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk
(i)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.
The SDF has exposure to foreign currency risk as a result of investment in foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities. The SDF’s currency exposure based on the information provided
to key management is as follows:
The quoted debt securities managed by fund managers denominated in currencies other than the
Agency’s functional currency comprise the following:
2013
$
Euro
US Dollar
Chinese Yuan
British Pound
Norwegian Krone

2012
$
-

1,899,783
106,572,940
8,676,991
376,899
4,038,883
121,565,496

Cash and cash equivalents managed by fund managers denominated in currencies other than the
Agency’s functional currency comprise:
2013
$
Australian Dollar
Euro
Hong Kong Dollar
US Dollar

23,303
92,954
32,359
110,139
258,755
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2012
$
-

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

12. Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(i)

Currency risk (continued)
Derivative financial instruments managed by fund managers denominated in currencies other than
the Agency’s functional currency comprise:
2013
$
Chinese Yuan
Euro
British Pound
Norwegian Krone
US Dollar

2012
$
-

30,374
40,099
(3,800)
136,544
367,157
570,374

Receivables managed by fund managers denominated in currencies other than the Agency’s functional
currency comprise:
2013
$
Australian Dollar
Chinese Yuan
Euro
British Pound
Norwegian Krone
US Dollar
Philippines Peso
Thailand Baht

2012
$
-

1,558
2,281,153
1,886
1,753
48,998
470,259
16,445
21,196
2,843,248

Payables managed by fund managers denominated in currencies other than the Agency’s functional
currency comprise:
2013
$
Chinese Yuan
US Dollar

1,400,108
993,401
2,393,509
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2012
$
-

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

12. Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(i)

Currency risk (continued)
Other monetary assets – debt securities, cash and cash equivalents
At the balance sheet date, if there is a +/-5% movement in exchange rates relative to the Singapore
Dollar, with all other variables held constant, the increase/(decrease) in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities in income and expenditure would be as follows:
2013
+5% scenario
$
Managed by fund managers
Debt securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments
Receivables
Payables

-5% scenario
$

6,078,275
12,938
28,519
142,162
(119,675)
6,142,219

(6,078,275)
(12,938)
(28,519)
(142,162)
119,675
(6,142,219)

2012

-5% scenario
$

+5% scenario
$
Managed by fund managers
Debt securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments
Receivables
Payables

(ii)

-

-

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or
factors affecting all securities traded in the market.
The SDF is exposed to equity price risk arising from financial assets which are classified on the balance
sheet at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equities,
the SDF diversifies its portfolio in accordance with its investment mandate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12. Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)

Price risk (continued)
Fair value through profit or loss equity securities, managed by fund managers
At the balance sheet date, assuming that all other variables are held constant, a 5% increase/(decrease)
in the underlying equity prices would increase/(decrease) the fair values of the equity securities in and
income and expenditure by the following amounts:
2013
+5% scenario
$
Equity securities, managed by fund managers
Income and expenditure

-5% scenario
$

1,419,223

(1,419,223)

2012
+5% scenario
$
Equity securities, managed by fund managers
Income and expenditure
(iii)

-5% scenario
$

-

-

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The SDF has cash balances placed with reputable banks, financial institutions and the AGD has
limited exposure to interest rate risk as variable rate interest-bearing assets are mainly of a short-term
nature. The SDF manages its interest rate risk by placing such balances on varying maturities and
interest rate terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12. Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Market risk (continued)
(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Fair value through profit or loss equity securities, managed by fund managers
The table below sets out the Agency’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to debt securities
managed by the fund managers.
2013
+50 basis point
scenario
$
Debt securities, managed by fund managers
Income and expenditure

(1,163,474)

-50 basis point
scenario
$

1,163,474

2012

Debt securities, managed by fund managers
Income and expenditure
(b)

+50 basis point
scenario
$

-50 basis point
scenario
$

-

-

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the SDF.
The SDF’s major classes of financial assets are cash held with the AGD, bank deposits, levy and other
receivables, financial assets, held-to-maturity and at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure
to credit risk for each class of financial assets is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments
presented on the balance sheet.
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12. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
The credit risk for levy and other receivables other than those managed by fund managers based on the
information provided to key management is as follows:

By counterparties
- Related parties
- Non-related parties
(i)

2013
$

2012
$

10,462,428
184,450
10,646,878

12,830,484
66,031
12,896,515

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Cash and bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits and cash held with
the AGD. Deposits are held with a central government agency and financial institutions which have
high credit-ratings as determined by international credit-rating agencies. Cash held with the AGD
under the Centralised Liquidity Management are placed with high credit quality financial institutions,
and are available upon request.
Financial assets, held-to-maturity that are neither past due nor impaired are investments held with the
Singapore Government or high investment grade Statutory Board bonds. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are investments held with high credit quality counterparties.
Levy and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially levy collection due from
the Central Provident Fund Board and interest receivable from the above-mentioned financial institutions.

(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for levy and other receivables.
The age analysis of levy and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:
2013
$
Past due < 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months

21,225
12,994
34,219
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2012
$
27,074
27,074

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

12. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Credit risk (continued)
(ii)

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired (continued)
The carrying amount of levy and other receivables individually determined to be impaired and the
movement in the related allowance for impairment are as follows:
2013
$
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months
Less: Allowance for impairment

Beginning of financial year
Allowance made
End of financial year

2012
$

51,428
15,202
66,630
(66,630)
-

1,350
33,023
34,373
(34,373)
-

34,373
32,257
66,630

7,071
27,302
34,373

The impaired levy and other receivables arise from receivables that are significantly aged.
Funds with fund managers
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
or commitment that it has entered into with the SDF. The fund managers each have a credit policy in
place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis.
As at 31 March 2013, the following financial assets were exposed to credit risk: investment in debt securities,
receivables on sale of financial instruments, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. The total
carrying amount of financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to $176,406,346 (2012: Nil).
The SDF limits its credit risk exposure in respect of investments in debt securities by restricting the
fund managers to invest in debt securities that have a sound credit rating from Standard & Poor’s and
Moody’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to
meet its obligations.
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12. Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the SDF will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
The SDF manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient funds to enable it to meet its operational requirements.
The SDF’s financial liabilities are expected to mature within one year.
Funds with fund managers
The Agency’s listed debt and equity securities are considered realisable, as they are listed on the major stock
exchanges. The fund managers are required to comply with the restrictions and limitations as stipulated in
the investment mandate.

(d)

Capital risk
The SDF’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the SDF is adequately capitalised and that
it fulfills the objects for which moneys of the SDF may be applied under the Skills Development Levy Act,
Cap. 306.
The SDF is not subject to any capital requirements under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306 or any
other externally imposed capital requirements.

(e)

Fair value measurements
The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were based on dealer quotes. These
instruments are included in Level 1.
The carrying value less impairment provision of current levy and other receivables and payables approximate
their fair values.

(f)

Financial instruments by category
The carrying amount of derivative financial instruments, financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets, held to maturity are disclosed on the face of the balance sheet and in Notes
5, 8 and 9 to the financial statements respectively.
The aggregate carrying amounts of loans and receivables and financial liabilities at amortised costs are as follows:
2013
$
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

778,042,695
18,977,072
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2012
$
936,053,378
4,099,768

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2013

13. Related party transactions
In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place
between the SDF and related parties at terms agreed between the parties. Related parties of the SDF are Ministries,
Organs of State and Statutory Boards of the Singapore Government.

SDL Levy collection from related parties
SDL Levy refunds to related parties
Disbursements to related parties
Disbursements refunds from related parties

2013
$

2012
$

21,191,253
73
40,429,515
30,730

17,484,713
92,204,872
1,056,857

Balances with related parties at the balance sheet date are unsecured and are disclosed in Notes 4, 6, 7, 8 and 10 respectively.

14. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations
The mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published, and are
relevant for the Agency’s accounting periods on or after 1 April 2013 or later periods and which the Agency has not early
adopted are:
• SB-FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)
SB-FRS 113 provides consistent guidance on how fair value should be determined and which disclosures should
be made in the financial statements. The SDF has yet to assess the full impact of SB-FRS 113 and intends to adopt
the standard from 1 April 2013.

15. Authorisation of financial statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of WDA on 17 July 2013.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Statement By Management
In the opinion of the Management, the accompanying financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions
of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act, Chapter 162A (the LLEF Act)so as to give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund for the financial year ended
31 March 2013.

Loh Khum Yean		
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Manpower		

Shirlyn Ng (Ms)
Director
Corporate Planning Department
Ministry of Manpower

Date: 21 MAY 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
ON LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, and the receipts and expenditure statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act, Chapter 162A (the LLEF Act), and devising and maintaining
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair income and expenditure accounts and balance sheets and to maintain
accountability of assets.
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund’s policy is to prepare the financial statements on the cash receipts and
disbursements basis. On this basis, revenue is recognised when received rather than when earned and expenses are
recognised when paid rather than when incurred.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management
committee, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund are properly drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act, Chapter 162A (the LLEF Act), and on the basis
sets out in the preceding paragraph, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Lifelong Learning
Endowment Fund as at 31 March 2013 and the receipts and expenditure of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund for
the year ended on that date;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
ON LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the receipts, expenditure and investment
of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund have been done in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Kong, Lim & Partners LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore,
Date: 21 MAY 2013
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Statement of Financial Position
As At 31 March 2013

Registered Office:
				
				

Ministry of Manpower
18 Havelock Road #07-01
Singapore 059764
Notes

2013
S$

2012
S$

3

3,830,263,478

3,818,413,395

4

3,830,263,478

3,818,413,395

Accumulated Fund
Balance at end of the year
Represented by :
Funds with Accountant-General

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Receipts And Expenditure Statement
For Financial Year Ended 31 March 2013

Note

2012
S$

2013
S$

Receipts during the year
Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments
Other receipts

5

130,971,579
2,791,425
133,763,004

500,000,000
128,086,906
4,795,713
632,882,619

117,113,121
4,793,250
6,550
121,912,921
11,850,083
3,818,413,395
3,830,263,478

115,729,661
5,522,510
6,958
121,259,128
511,623,490
3,306,789,904
3,818,413,395

Expenditure during the year
Grants disbursed
Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses

6

Surplus for the year
Accumulated fund balance brought forward
Accumulated fund balance carried forward

3

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For Financial Year Ended 31 March 2013

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Ministry of Manpower on 21 May 2013.

1.

Domicile and Activities
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“the Fund”) is established in Singapore. The address of the Ministry’s
principal place of activity is at 18 Havelock Road, #07-01, Singapore 059764.
The Fund is set up by the Singapore Government (“the Government”) under the Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund Act, Chapter 162A (the LLEF Act) for the acquisition of skills and expertise by persons, and the development
and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons to enhance their employability; and the promotion of the
acquisition, development and upgrading of skills and expertise to enhance the employability of persons.
The Fund, which came into operation with effect from 12 March 2001, had an initial capital of $500 million. The
Government may make further payments of capital money into the Fund from time to time. Only income earned from
the Fund will be used. The Fund is deemed to be a Government fund for the purposes of any written law in Singapore.
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”) has been appointed as the programme manager of the
Fund to receive and deploy the grant for programmes that are congruent with the objectives of the Fund.

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.
In line with the Government’s accounting policy, the cash basis of accounting is adopted. On the basis, receipts are
recognised when received rather than earned and expenses are recognised when paid rather than when incurred.

06
LLEF Financial Statements

MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For Financial Year Ended 31 March 2013

3.

Accumulated Fund
Note
Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments

(a)
(b)

2013
S$
3,600,000,000
230,263,478
3,830,263,478

2012
S$
3,600,000,000
218,413,395
3,818,413,395

a)

This relates to capital money paid into the Fund by the Government from the Consolidated Revenue Account.
Under Section 4(4) of the Act, this amount shall not be used for any purpose other than for investment.

b)

This relates to investment income earned on the Fund balance. The investment income is arrived at after
deducting investment expenses, grants made to institutions and other expenses as approved under the Act.
Note
Income from investments
Past reserves protected
Income from investments available for expenditure

c)

(c)
(d)

2013
S$
230,263,478
(208,377,813)
21,885,665

2012
S$
218,413,395
(208,377,813)
10,035,582

This relates to reserves which are protected as a result of Government requirements.
Investment income earned from the Fund previously will be protected when there is a change-over in
government. This would ensure that the present government would only spend what it has earned in its term
of office.

d)

This amount is available for payment of future approved expenses and distribution as grants to institutions to
be applied for the purpose of all or any of the following purposes as defined under the Act:
(i)

the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to acquire, develop or upgrade, whether in
Singapore or elsewhere, skills and expertise to enhance their employability;

(ii)

the research or development, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, in or of learning methods and
technology to enhance the acquisition, development or upgrading of such skills and expertise;

(iii)

the promotion of the acquisition, development or upgrading of such skills and expertise;

(iv)

the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to carry out, whether in Singapore or
elsewhere, activities or programmes which are consistent with objects of the Fund;

(v)

the establishment, expansion or maintenance of facilities, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, to be used
for purposes consistent with the objects of the Fund; and

(vi)

such other purposes consistent with the objects of the Fund, whether carried out in Singapore or
elsewhere, as may be prescribed.
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MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For Financial Year Ended 31 March 2013

4.

Funds with Accountant-General
This represents funds held by the Accountant-General on behalf of the Fund. The Fund is allocated investment
income based on interest rate pegged at 1% above the 10-year Singapore Government Securities (SGS) yield. The
interest rate for FY2012 is 3.43%.

5.

Other Receipts
2013
S$
2,776,456
14,969
2,791,425

Refund of unused grant
Interest income

2012
S$
4,791,618
4,095
4,795,713

6. Grants Disbursed
During the financial year, the Fund made disbursements to WDA for the administration of the funds for the
following programmes:
2013
S$
Expenditure
Employment Facilitation Programmes (includes Spur-Jobs Scheme)
Development and Expansion of CET Centres
Outcome-based and Skills Upgrading Programmes for In-employment
Workers
Place and Train Programmes/Professional Skills Programme/Professional
Conversion Programme
WSQ Development, Implementation and Launch
Advantage
Promotion and Publicity (includes CET Promotion and HR Summit)
Others (e.g. surveys, administration, minor projects)
WDA – Refer to Note (a)
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2012
S$

40,960,040
15,623,800

27,877,442
27,476,020

18,383,701

36,089,799

85,195
1,711,268
11,369,255
1,456,987
23,265,140
112,855,386
4,257,735
117,113,121

9,907,831
3,180,635
5,594,000
3,423,088
4,768,597
118,317,412
(2,587,751)
115,729,661

MINISTRY OF MANPOWER
LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
For Financial Year Ended 31 March 2013

6. Grants Disbursed (continued)
Note (a) – this is represented by:
Note
Grants disbursed by WDA out of unused funds received from the
Fund in the previous financial year
Unused portion of grants disbursed to WDA in the current financial
year, available for carry forward to the next financial year
(a)
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2013
S$

2012
S$

(1,651,142)

(4,238,893)

5,908,877
4,257,735

1,651,142
(2,587,751)

Singapore Workforce Development Agency
1 Marina Boulevard
#16-01 One Marina Boulevard
Singapore 018989
Tel: 6883 5885
Fax: 6512 1111
Email: wda_enquiry@wda.gov.sg

